Schwab Cash Reserves

(the Fund)

Supplement dated September 28, 2018 to the currently effective Summary Prospectus, Statutory Prospectus, and Statement of Additional Information (SAI)

This supplement provides new and additional information beyond that contained in the Summary Prospectus, Statutory Prospectus and SAI and should be read in conjunction with the Summary Prospectus, Statutory Prospectus and SAI.

At a meeting held on September 25, 2018, the Board of Trustees of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds (the Trust) approved the liquidation of, and the related Plan of Liquidation for, the Fund.

In accordance with the Plan of Liquidation, the Fund will redeem all of its outstanding shares on or about April 10, 2019 (the Liquidation Date), and distribute the proceeds to the Fund's shareholders in amounts equal to each shareholder's proportionate interest in the net assets of the Fund after the Fund has paid or provided for all of its charges, taxes, expenses and liabilities. It is expected that this distribution will be at a \$1.00 net asset value per share. Additionally, the Fund anticipates making a distribution of any net income and realized capital gains of the Fund prior to or on the Liquidation Date, which may be taxable to Fund shareholders.

As the Fund approaches the Liquidation Date, the Fund will wind up its business and affairs, and will cease investing its assets in accordance with its stated investment strategies. On or before the Liquidation Date, all portfolio holdings of the Fund will be converted to cash or cash equivalents. As a result, the Fund will not be able to achieve its investment objective and will deviate from its investment strategies during the period as it approaches the Liquidation Date.

The Fund's investment adviser will bear all expenses associated with the liquidation other than transaction costs associated with winding down the Fund's portfolio and effective February 15, 2019 through the Liquidation Date, the Fund's investment adviser will waive the Fund's management fees.

The liquidation is not expected to be a taxable event for the Fund. As is the case with other redemptions of Fund shares, each shareholder's redemption, including a mandatory redemption on the Liquidation Date, may constitute a taxable disposition of shares for shareholders who do not hold their shares through tax-advantaged plans (i.e., may constitute a sale that may result in gain or loss for federal income tax purposes). However, shareholders are not expected to realize any gain or loss so long as the Fund maintains its \$1.00 share price. Shareholders should contact their tax advisors to discuss the potential tax consequences of the liquidation.

Once the Fund has been liquidated, all references to the Fund will be deleted from the Summary Prospectus, Statutory Prospectus and SAI.

A copy of the Fund's Prospectus and this supplement is available on the Fund's website **www.schwabfunds.com/schwabfunds_prospectus**, and the Fund will provide additional information, should it become available, on its website.

PLEASE RETAIN THIS SUPPLEMENT FOR FUTURE REFERENCE

REG103878-00 (09/18) 00216453

Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund — Sweep Shares Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund — Sweep Shares Schwab AMT Tax-Free Money Fund — Sweep Shares Schwab Municipal Money Fund — Sweep Shares Schwab California Municipal Money Fund — Sweep Shares Schwab New York Municipal Money Fund — Sweep Shares

(each, a Fund and collectively, the Funds)

Supplement dated September 28, 2018 to the currently effective Summary Prospectuses, Statutory Prospectuses, and Statements of Additional Information (SAIs)

This supplement provides new and additional information beyond that contained in the Summary Prospectuses, Statutory Prospectuses and SAIs and should be read in conjunction with the Summary Prospectuses, Statutory Prospectuses and SAIs.

At a meeting held on September 25, 2018, the Board of Trustees of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds (the Trust) approved the liquidation and redemption of, and the related Plan of Liquidation and Redemption for, the Sweep Shares (the Liquidating Classes) of each Fund.

Each Fund will redeem all of its outstanding Sweep Shares on or about April 10, 2019 (the Liquidation Date), and distribute the proceeds to its Sweep Shares shareholders in amounts equal to each shareholder's proportionate interest in the net assets of the Fund's Sweep Shares after it has paid or provided for all of its charges, taxes, expenses and liabilities. It is expected that this distribution will be at a \$1.00 net asset value per share. Additionally, each Fund anticipates making a distribution of any net income and realized capital gains of the Liquidating Classes prior to or on the Liquidation Date, which may be taxable to Fund shareholders.

For taxable shareholders of the Liquidating Classes, the redemption of shares on the Liquidation Date will generally be treated as any other redemption of shares, i.e., as a sale that may result in a gain or a loss for federal income tax purposes. Instead of waiting until the Liquidation Date, a shareholder may voluntarily redeem his or her shares prior to the Liquidation Date to the extent that the shareholder wishes to realize any such gains or losses prior thereto. However, shareholders are not expected to realize any gain or loss so long as each Fund maintains its \$1.00 share price. See "Distributions and Taxes" in the Prospectus. Shareholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the tax treatment of the liquidation and redemption.

Once the Sweep Shares of the Funds have been liquidated, all references to the Funds' Sweep Shares will be deleted from the Funds' Summary Prospectuses, Statutory Prospectuses and SAIs.

A copy of each Fund's Prospectus and this supplement is available on the Funds' website **www.schwabfunds.com/schwabfunds_prospectus**, and the Funds will provide additional information, should it become available, on their website.

PLEASE RETAIN THIS SUPPLEMENT FOR FUTURE REFERENCE

SCHWAB ANNUITY PORTFOLIOS

SCHWAB CAPITAL TRUST

SCHWAB INVESTMENTS

SCHWAB STRATEGIC TRUST

LAUDUS TRUST

(all series)

Supplement dated June 15, 2018 to all currently effective Statements of Additional Information (each an SAI and collectively, the SAIs) for each series of the aforementioned Trusts.

This supplement provides new and additional information beyond that contained in the SAIs and should be read in conjunction with the SAIs.

This supplement supersedes and replaces the series' SAI supplement dated May 31, 2018.

Effective May 15, 2018, Charles A. Ruffel resigned from the Board of Trustees. As such, all references to Charles A. Ruffel are removed from each SAI.

Additionally, effective June 1, 2018, Nancy F. Heller will join the Board of Trustees. As such, the following changes are made to each SAI.

I. Revised Board of Trustees Table

The Board of Trustees table under the "Management of the Funds" section in each SAI is revised to remove all references to Charles A. Ruffel and insert the following information for Nancy F. Heller.

Number of

Name, Year of Birth, And Position(s) with the Trust; (Term of Office and Length of Time Served)	Principal Occupations During the Past Five Years	Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by the Trustee	Other Directorships During the Past Five Years
Nancy F. Heller 1956 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2018)	President and Chairman, TIAA Charitable (financial services) (2014-2016); Senior Managing Director, TIAA (financial services) (2003-2016).	107	None

II. Revised Individual Trustee Qualifications

The "Individual Trustee Qualifications" section in each SAI is revised to remove all references to Charles A. Ruffel and insert the following information for Nancy F. Heller.

The Board has concluded that Ms. Heller should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience she gained as President of TIAA Charitable and as Senior Managing Director at TIAA, the experience she has gained serving on other non-public company boards and her knowledge of and experience in the financial services industry.

III. Revised Board of Trustees Committee Structures

The "Trustee Committees" section in each SAI is revised as follows:

- a. The members of the Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee shall be Kiran M. Patel (Chair), John F. Cogan, Nancy F. Heller and Kimberly S. Patmore effective June 1, 2018.
- b. The members of the Investment Oversight Committee shall be Gerald B. Smith (Chair), Robert W. Burns, Stephen T. Kochis, David L. Mahoney and Joseph H. Wender effective June 1, 2018.

IV. Revised Securities Beneficially Owned By Each Trustee

The Trustee Security Ownership table under the "Securities Beneficially Owned By Each Trustee" section in each SAI is revised to remove all references to Charles A. Ruffel and insert the following information for Nancy F. Heller.

		Aggregate Dollar
	Dollar	Range of Trustee
	Range of Trustee	Ownership in the
	Ownership in	Family of Investment
Name of Trustee	the Fund	Companies
	INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES	
Nancy F. Heller	None	None

PLEASE RETAIN THIS SUPPLEMENT FOR FUTURE REFERENCE

Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves

Supplement dated June 11, 2018 to the Summary Prospectus dated May 31, 2018, the Prospectus dated April 27, 2018, and the Statement of Additional Information (SAI) dated April 27, 2018, as supplemented May 31, 2018

This supplement provides new and additional information beyond that contained in the Summary Prospectus, Prospectus and SAI and should be read in conjunction with the Summary Prospectus, Prospectus and SAI.

At a meeting held on June 5, 2018, the Board of Trustees of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds (the Trust) approved the liquidation of, and the related Plan of Liquidation for, Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves (the Fund).

In accordance with the Plan of Liquidation, the Fund will redeem all of its outstanding shares on or about October 31, 2018 (the Liquidation Date), and distribute the proceeds to the Fund's shareholders in an amount equal to the shareholder's proportionate interest in the net assets of the Fund after the Fund has paid or provided for all of its charges, taxes, expenses and liabilities. Additionally, the Fund anticipates making a distribution of any taxable dividends and capital gains of the Fund prior to or on the Liquidation Date.

As the Fund approaches the Liquidation Date, the Fund will wind up its business and affairs, and will cease investing its assets in accordance with its stated investment policies. On or before the Liquidation Date, all portfolio holdings of the Fund will be converted to cash, cash equivalents or other liquid assets. As a result, the Fund will not be able to achieve its investment objective and will deviate from its investment policies during the period as it approaches the Liquidation Date.

The Fund's investment adviser will bear all expenses associated with the liquidation other than transaction costs associated with winding down the Fund's portfolio and effective September 5, 2018 through the Liquidation Date, the Fund's investment adviser will waive the Fund's management fee.

The liquidation is not expected to be a taxable event for the Fund. As is the case with other redemptions of Fund shares, each shareholder's redemption, including a mandatory redemption on the Liquidation Date, may constitute a taxable disposition of shares for shareholders who do not hold their shares through tax-advantaged plans (i.e., may constitute a sale that may result in gain or loss for federal income tax purposes). Shareholders should contact their tax advisors to discuss the potential tax consequences of the liquidation.

Once the Fund has been liquidated, all references to the Fund will be deleted from the Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information.

A copy of the Fund's Prospectus and this supplement is available on the Fund's website **www.schwabfunds.com/schwabfunds_prospectus**, and the Fund will provide additional information, should it become available, on its website.



Schwab Funds

Schwab Money Market Fund™	SWMXX	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund®	
Schwab Government Money Fund™		Investor Shares	SWVXX
Sweep Shares	SWGXX	Ultra Shares	SNAXX
Investor Shares	SNVXX	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money	SWIXX
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund™		Fund [®]	
Sweep Shares	SWUXX	Schwab Investor Money Fund®	SWRXX
Investor Shares	SNSXX	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund™	
Schwab Cash Reserves™	SWSXX	Sweep Shares	SNTXX
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves®		Investor Shares	SNOXX
Sweep Shares	SWQXX	Schwab Retirement Government Money	SNRXX
Premier Sweep Shares	SWZXX	Fund™	

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

April 27, 2018

The Statement of Additional Information (SAI) is not a prospectus. It should be read in conjunction with each fund's prospectus dated April 27, 2018 (as amended from time to time).

The funds' audited financial statements and the report of the independent registered public accounting firm thereon from the funds' annual reports for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, are incorporated by reference into this SAI.

For a free copy of these documents or to request other information or ask questions about the funds, call Schwab Funds® at 1-877-824-5615. For TDD service call 1-800-345-2550. In addition, you may visit Schwab Funds' website at **www.schwabfunds.com/schwabfunds_prospectus** for a free copy of a prospectus, SAI or an annual or semiannual report.

Each fund is a series of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds (the Trust). The funds are part of the Schwab complex of funds (Schwab Funds).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES	1
INVESTMENT STRATEGIES	1
INVESTMENTS, SECURITIES AND RISKS	1
INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS	9
MANAGEMENT OF THE FUNDS	11
CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES	20
INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES	20
BROKERAGE ALLOCATION AND OTHER PRACTICES	25
PROXY VOTING	27
PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS DISCLOSURE	28
DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST	29
PURCHASE, REDEMPTION, DELIVERY OF SHAREHOLDER DOCUMENTS AND PRICING OF SHARES	30
TAXATION	32
APPENDIX - RATINGS OF INVESTMENT SECURITIES	
APPENDIX - PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES	
APPENDIX - PROXY VOTING POLICY AND PROCEDURES	

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES

Each of the Schwab Government Money Fund, Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund, Schwab Money Market Fund, Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund, Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund, Schwab Investor Money Fund, Schwab Cash Reserves and Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves seeks the highest current income consistent with stability of capital and liquidity. Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund seeks current income consistent with stability of capital and liquidity.

The investment objective of each fund, with the exception of Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund, may be changed only by vote of a majority of its outstanding voting shares. There is no guarantee the funds will achieve their objectives.

A majority of the outstanding voting shares of a fund means the affirmative vote of the lesser of: (a) 67% or more of the voting shares represented at the meeting, if more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares of a fund are represented at the meeting; or (b) more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares of a fund.

The funds operate as money market funds and seek to comply with the requirements of Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the "1940 Act"), as that Rule may be interpreted and amended from time to time. The Rule's key provisions govern the maturity, liquidity, quality and diversification of their money market fund investments. For example, with respect to maturity, Rule 2a-7 currently provides that money funds limit their investments to securities with remaining maturities of 397 days or less and maintain dollar-weighted average maturities of 60 days or less and a dollar-weighted average life to maturity of 120 days or less, all calculated as described in the Rule or any interpretation thereunder. Taxable money funds are subject to minimum liquidity requirements that prohibit a fund from acquiring certain types of securities if, immediately after the acquisition, the fund's investments in daily or weekly liquid assets, as defined in the Rule, would be below 10% or 30%, respectively, of the fund's total assets. In addition, money funds may only invest in high quality securities. The funds are also subject to strict diversification requirements under Rule 2a-7.

The following investment strategies, securities, risks and limitations supplement those set forth in the prospectuses and may be changed without shareholder approval unless otherwise noted. Also, policies and limitations that state a maximum percentage of assets that may be invested in a security or other asset, or that set forth a quality standard, shall be measured immediately after and as a result of a fund's acquisition of such security or asset unless otherwise noted. Additionally, for purposes of calculating any restriction, an issuer shall be the entity deemed to be ultimately responsible for payments of interest and principal on the security pursuant to Rule 2a-7 under the 1940 Act unless otherwise noted.

INVESTMENT STRATEGIES

The Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund will invest at least 99.5% of its total assets in cash and/or government securities; including bills and notes; under normal circumstances, 80% of its net assets must be invested solely in U.S. Treasury securities (excluding cash). With respect to the 80% policy, the fund will notify its shareholders at least 60 days before changing the policy. For purposes of this policy, net assets mean net assets plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes.

The Schwab Government Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund will invest at least 99.5% of their total assets in cash, U.S. government securities and/or repurchase agreements that are collateralized fully by cash and/or U.S. government securities; under normal circumstances, 80% of their net assets must be invested solely in U.S. government securities including repurchase agreements (excluding cash). With respect to the 80% policy, each fund will notify its shareholders at least 60 days before changing the policy. For purposes of this policy, net assets mean net assets plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes.

Each of the Schwab Money Market Fund, Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund, Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund, Schwab Investor Money Fund, Schwab Cash Reserves and Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing in high-quality, U.S. dollar-denominated money market securities issued by U.S. and foreign issuers, including U.S. government securities and repurchase agreements for these securities.

The Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund will invest at least 99.5% of its total assets in cash, government securities and/or repurchase agreements that are collateralized fully by cash and/or government securities; under normal circumstances, 80% of its net assets must be invested solely in U.S. Treasury obligations or repurchase agreements backed by such obligations (excluding cash). With respect to the 80% policy, the fund will notify its shareholders at least 60 days before changing the policy. For purposes of this policy, net assets mean net assets plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes.

INVESTMENTS, SECURITIES AND RISKS

From time to time a fund may hold certain securities not otherwise discussed in this SAI as a permissible investment for the fund. To the extent an investment becomes part of a fund's principal or non-principal investment strategy, the fund will take the necessary steps to identify them as permissible investments. In addition, a fund may receive (i.e., not actively invest) certain securities as a result of a corporate action, such as securities dividends, spin-offs or rights issues. In such cases, the fund will not actively add to its position and generally will dispose the securities as soon as reasonably practicable.

Not all investment securities or techniques discussed below are eligible investments for each fund. A fund will invest in securities or engage in techniques that are intended to help achieve its investment objective.

Asset-Backed Securities are securities that are backed by the loans or accounts receivables of an entity, such as a bank or credit card company. These securities are obligations which the issuer intends to repay using the assets backing them (once collected). Therefore, repayment depends largely on the cash flows generated by the assets backing the securities. The rate of principal payments on asset-backed securities generally depends on the rate of principal payments received on the underlying assets, which in turn may be affected by a variety of economic and other factors. As a result, the yield on any asset-backed security is difficult to predict with precision, and actual yield to maturity may be more or less than the anticipated yield to maturity.

Sometimes the credit quality of these securities is limited to the support provided by the underlying assets, but, in other cases, additional credit support also may be provided by a third party via a letter of credit or insurance guarantee. Such credit support falls into two classes: liquidity protection and protection against ultimate default on the underlying assets. Liquidity protection refers to the provision of advances, generally by the entity administering the pool of assets, to ensure that scheduled payments on the underlying pool are made in a timely fashion. Protection against ultimate default ensures payment on at least a portion of the assets in the pool. Such protection may be provided through guarantees, insurance policies or letters of credit obtained from third parties, through various means of structuring the transaction or through a combination of such approaches.

The degree of credit support provided on each issue is based generally on historical information respecting the level of credit risk associated with such payments. Delinquency or loss in excess of that anticipated could adversely affect the return on an investment in an asset-backed security.

For purposes of a fund's concentration policy, the fund will determine the industry classification of asset-backed securities based upon the investment adviser's evaluation of the risks associated with an investment in the underlying assets. For example, asset-backed securities whose underlying assets share similar economic characteristics because, for example, they are funded (or supported) primarily from a single or similar source or revenue stream will be classified in the same industry sector. In contrast, asset-backed securities whose underlying assets represent a diverse mix of industries, business sectors and/or revenue streams will be classified into distinct industries based on their underlying credit and liquidity structures. A fund will limit its investments in each identified industry to less than 25% of its net assets.

Borrowing may subject a fund to interest costs, which may exceed the interest received on the securities purchased with the borrowed funds. A fund normally may borrow at times to meet redemption requests rather than sell portfolio securities to raise the necessary cash. Borrowing can involve leveraging when securities are purchased with the borrowed money. To avoid this, a fund will not purchase securities while borrowings are outstanding or will earmark or segregate assets to cover such borrowings in accordance with positions of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Certificates of Deposit or time deposits are issued against funds deposited in a banking institution for a specified period of time at a specified interest rate. A fund will invest only in certificates of deposit, including time deposits, of banks that have capital, surplus and undivided profits, in the aggregate, in excess of \$100 million.

Commercial Paper consists of short-term, promissory notes issued by banks, corporations and other entities to finance short-term credit needs. These securities generally are discounted but sometimes may be interest bearing. Commercial paper, which also may be unsecured, is subject to credit risk.

Concentration means that substantial amounts of assets are invested in a particular industry or group of industries. Concentration increases investment exposure to industry risk. For example, the automobile industry may have a greater exposure to a single factor, such as an increase in the price of oil, which may adversely affect the sale of automobiles and, as a result, the value of the industry's securities. Based on the primary characteristics of non-U.S. (foreign) banks, the funds have identified each foreign country as a separate bank industry for purposes of a fund's concentration policy. A fund will limit its investments in securities issued by foreign banks in each country to less than 25% of its net assets. However, the funds, except for Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund, Schwab Government Money Fund, Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund, reserve the freedom of action to invest up to 100% of their assets in certificates of deposit or bankers' acceptances issued by domestic branches of U.S. banks and U.S. branches of foreign banks (which the funds have determined to be subject to the same regulation as U.S. banks).

Credit and Liquidity Supports or Enhancements may be employed by issuers to reduce the credit risk of their securities. Credit supports include letters of credit, insurance and guarantees provided by foreign and domestic financial institutions. Liquidity supports include puts, demand features, and lines of credit. Most of these arrangements move the credit risk of an investment from the issuer of the security to the support provider. The investment adviser may rely on its evaluation of the credit and liquidity of the credit support provider in determining whether to purchase or hold a security enhanced by such a support. Changes in the credit quality of a support provider could cause losses to a fund.

Debt Securities are obligations issued by domestic and foreign entities, including governments and corporations, in order to raise money. They are basically "IOUs," but are commonly referred to as bonds or money market securities. These securities normally require the issuer to pay a fixed-, variable- or floating-rate of interest on the amount of money borrowed (the principal) until it is paid back upon maturity.

Debt securities experience price changes when interest rates change. For example, when interest rates fall, the prices of debt securities generally rise. Conversely, when interest rates rise, the prices of debt securities generally fall.

Certain debt securities have call features that allow the issuer to redeem their outstanding debts prior to final maturity. Depending on the call feature, an issuer may pre-pay its outstanding debts and issue new ones paying lower interest rates. If an issuer redeems its debt securities prior to final maturity, a fund may have to replace these securities with lower yielding securities, which could result in a lower return This is more likely to occur in a falling interest rate environment. In a rising interest rate environment, prepayment on outstanding debt securities is less likely to occur. This is known as extension risk and may cause the value of debt securities to depreciate as a result of the higher market interest rates. Typically, longer-maturity securities react to interest rate changes more severely than shorter-term securities (all things being equal), but generally offer greater rates of interest.

A change in the Federal Reserve's monetary policy (or that of other central banks) or improving economic conditions, among other things, may lead to increases in interest rates, which could significantly impact the value of debt securities in which a fund invests. There is currently a heightened risk of increased interest rates because of the continued economic recovery, along with the fact that the Federal Reserve Board ended its quantitative easing program in 2014, and has begun, and may continue, to raise interest rates. Some debt securities are more sensitive to interest rate changes than others and may experience an immediate and considerable reduction in value if interest rates rise. Longer duration securities tend to be more volatile than shorter duration securities. As the values of debt securities in a fund's portfolio adjust to a rise in interest rates, a fund's share price may fall. In the event that a fund holds a large portion of its portfolio in longer duration securities when interest rates increase, the share price of the fund may fall significantly.

Debt securities also are subject to the risk that the issuers will not make timely interest and/or principal payments or fail to make them at all. This is called credit risk. Corporate debt securities (bonds) tend to have higher credit risk generally than U.S. government debt securities. Debt securities also may be subject to price volatility due to market perception of future interest rates, the creditworthiness of the issuer and general market liquidity (market risk).

Corporate bonds are debt securities issued by corporations. Although a higher return is expected from corporate bonds, these securities, while subject to the same general risks as U.S. government securities, are subject to greater credit risk than U.S. government securities. Their prices may be affected by the perceived credit quality of their issuer.

Delayed-Delivery Transactions include purchasing and selling securities on a delayed-delivery or when-issued basis. These transactions involve a commitment to buy or sell specific securities at a predetermined price or yield, with payment and delivery taking place after the customary settlement period for that type of security. When purchasing securities on a delayed-delivery basis, a fund assumes the rights and risks of ownership, including the risk of price and yield fluctuations. Typically, no interest will accrue to a fund until the security is delivered. A fund will earmark or segregate appropriate liquid assets to cover its delayed-delivery purchase obligations. When a fund sells a security on a delayed-delivery basis, the fund does not participate in further gains or losses with respect to that security. If the other party to a delayed-delivery transaction fails to deliver or pay for the securities, a fund could suffer losses.

Diversification involves investing in a wide range of securities and thereby spreading and reducing the risks of investment. Each fund is a diversified mutual fund. Each fund also follows the regulations set forth by the SEC in Rule 2a-7 that dictate the diversification requirements for money market mutual funds, as such regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time. Each fund may invest up to 25% of its assets in securities of a single issuer for a period of up to three business days.

Foreign Institutions involve additional risks. The funds may invest in U.S. dollar-denominated securities issued by foreign institutions or securities that are subject to credit or liquidity enhancements provided by foreign institutions. Foreign institutions may not be subject to uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards, practices and requirements that are comparable to those applicable to U.S. corporations. In addition, there may be less publicly available information about foreign entities. Foreign economic, political and legal developments could have effects on the value of securities issued or supported by foreign institutions. For example, conditions within and around foreign countries, such as the possibility of expropriation or confiscatory taxation, political or social instability, diplomatic developments, change of government or war could affect the value of these securities. In addition, there may be difficulties in obtaining or enforcing judgments against the foreign institutions that issue or support securities in which the funds may invest. These factors and others may increase the risks with respect to the liquidity of a fund, and its ability to meet a large number of shareholder redemption requests.

During the 2008-2009 global financial crisis, financial markets in Europe experienced significant volatility due, in part, to concerns about rising levels of government debt and the prevalence of increased budget deficits. As a result, many economies in the region suffered through prolonged economic downturns. Due to the economic integration of the region, another economic downturn in one European country may have a negative impact on the economies of other European countries.

In a 2016 referendum, citizens of the United Kingdom (the UK) voted to withdraw from the European Union (the EU), which caused significant volatility in global financial markets. The UK has formally notified the European Council of its intention to withdraw from the EU (commonly referred to as "Brexit") by invoking Article 50, which triggers a two-year period of negotiations on the terms of Brexit. There is significant uncertainty regarding the consequences and timeframe for Brexit. During this period of uncertainty, the UK and European economies and the broader global economy may experience increased volatility and illiquidity, and companies that conduct a significant amount of business in the UK or Europe may experience lower revenue and/or profit growth, all of which may adversely affect the value of a fund's investments. Brexit also

may cause additional member states to contemplate departing the EU, which would likely perpetuate political and economic instability in the region and cause additional market disruption in global financial markets.

As a fund may hold investments in issuers that are located in Europe or that depend on revenues generated from operations in Europe, any material negative developments in Europe could have a negative impact on the value and liquidity of these investments, which could harm a fund's performance.

Illiquid Securities generally are any securities that cannot be disposed of in the ordinary course of business within seven days at approximately the amount at which a fund has valued the instruments. Under a new definition that takes effect December 1, 2018, an illiquid security will be defined as a security that may not reasonably be expected to be sold or disposed of in current market conditions in seven calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment. The liquidity of a fund's investments is monitored under the supervision and direction of the Board of Trustees (Board). Investments currently not considered liquid include, among others, repurchase agreements not maturing within seven days that are not subject to a demand feature of seven days or less and certain restricted securities.

Interfund Borrowing and Lending. The SEC has granted an exemption to the funds that permits the funds to borrow money from and/or lend money to other funds in the Fund Complex, as defined under "Management of the Funds". All loans are for temporary or emergency purposes and the interest rates to be charged will be the average of the overnight repurchase agreement rate and the short-term bank loan rate. All loans are subject to numerous conditions designed to ensure fair and equitable treatment of all participating funds. The interfund lending facility is subject to the oversight and periodic review of the Board of the Schwab Funds[®].

Maturity of Investments generally will be determined using the portfolio securities' final maturity dates or a shorter period as permitted by Rule 2a-7. For a government security that is a variable-rate security where the variable rate of interest is readjusted at least every 397 calendar days, the maturity is deemed to be equal to the period remaining until the next readjustment of the interest rate. A government security that is a floating-rate security is deemed to have a maturity of one day. A short-term variable-rate security is deemed to have a maturity equal to the earlier of the period remaining until the next readjustment of the interest rate or the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand. A long-term variable-rate security that is subject to a demand feature is deemed to have a maturity equal to the longer of the period remaining until the next readjustment of the interest rate or the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand. A short-term floating-rate security is deemed to have a maturity of one day. A long-term floating-rate security that is subject to a demand feature is deemed to have a maturity equal to the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand. A repurchase agreement is deemed to have a maturity equal to the period remaining until the date on the repurchase of the underlying securities is scheduled to occur, or, where the agreement is subject to a demand, the notice period applicable to the demand for repurchase of the securities are scheduled to be returned, or where the agreement is subject to demand, the notice period applicable to a demand for the return of the loaned securities.

Money Market Securities are high-quality, short-term debt securities that may be issued by entities such as the U.S. government, municipalities, corporations and financial institutions (like banks). Money market securities include, but are not limited to, commercial paper, promissory notes, certificates of deposit, bankers' acceptances, notes and time deposits.

Money market securities pay fixed-, variable- or floating-rates of interest and are generally subject to credit and interest rate risks. The maturity date or price of and financial assets collateralizing a security may be structured in order to make it qualify as or act like a money market security. These securities may be subject to greater credit and interest rate risks than other money market securities because of their structure. A money market security may be issued with a put (agreement that allows the buyer of the security to sell it at a specified price) or without a put.

Municipal Securities are debt securities issued by a state, its counties, municipalities, authorities and other subdivisions, or the territories and possessions of the United States and the District of Columbia, including their subdivisions, agencies and instrumentalities and corporations if interest on securities issued by those issuers is not subject to federal or state income tax (municipal issuers).

Municipal securities pay fixed-, variable- or floating-rates of interest, which is meant to be exempt from federal income tax, and, typically personal income tax of a state or locality. The investment adviser relies on the opinion of the issuer's counsel, which is rendered at the time the security is issued, to determine whether the security is eligible, with respect to its validity and tax status, to be purchased by a fund. Neither the investment adviser nor the funds guarantee that this opinion is correct, and there is no assurance that the IRS will agree with such counsel's opinion.

Municipal securities may be issued to obtain money for various public purposes, including the construction of a wide range of public facilities such as airports, bridges, highways, housing, hospitals, mass transportation, public utilities, schools, streets, and water and sewer works. Other public purposes include refunding outstanding obligations, obtaining funds for general operating expenses and obtaining funds to loan to other public institutions and facilities.

Municipal securities also may be issued to finance various private activities, including certain types of private activity bonds (industrial development bonds under prior law). These securities may be issued by or on behalf of public authorities to provide funds to construct or

improve privately owned or operated facilities. The repayment of the debt is typically not an obligation of the municipal issuer but only of the operator or owner of the facility. The credit quality of private activity bonds may be related to the credit standing of the private corporation or other entity on whose behalf the bonds were issued and who is responsible for repaying the debt or to the financial institution providing a credit or liquidity enhancement.

Municipal securities generally are classified as "general obligation" or "revenue" and may be purchased directly or through participation interests. General obligation securities typically are secured by the issuer's pledge of its full faith and credit and taxing power for the payment of principal and interest. Revenue securities may be payable only from the revenues derived from a particular facility or class of facilities or, in other cases, from the proceeds of a special tax or other specific revenue source. Private activity bonds and industrial development bonds are, in most cases, revenue bonds and generally do not constitute the pledge of the credit of the issuer of such bonds. The credit quality of private activity bonds is frequently related to the credit standing of private corporations or other entities.

Municipal securities may be owned directly or through participation interests, and include general obligation or revenue securities, tax-exempt commercial paper, notes and leases, as well as "conduit securities," which are securities issued by a municipal issuer for the benefit of a person other than a municipal issuer who will provide for, or secure repayment of, the securities. For example, most municipal debt issued for health care and higher education institutions are issued through conduit issuers with the debt service payments secured by payments from the health care or higher education institution.

Examples of municipal securities that are issued with original maturities of 397 days or less are short-term tax anticipation and revenue anticipation notes, bond anticipation notes and municipal commercial paper. Tax anticipation and revenue anticipation notes typically are sold to finance working capital needs of municipalities in anticipation of the receipt of property taxes or other revenues on a future date. Bond anticipation notes are sold on an interim basis in anticipation of a municipality's issuance of a longer-term bond in the future. Pre-refunded municipal bonds are bonds that are not yet refundable, but for which securities have been placed in escrow to refund an original municipal bond issue when it becomes refundable. The funds may purchase other municipal securities similar to the foregoing that are or may become available, including securities issued to pre-refund other outstanding obligations of municipal issuers. In addition, the maturity date or price of and financial assets collateralizing a municipal money market security may be structured in order to make it qualify as or act like a municipal money market security.

The funds also may invest in moral obligation securities, which are normally issued by special purpose public authorities. For example, for one type of moral obligation security, if the issuer of the security is unable to meet its obligation from current revenues, it may draw on a reserve fund. The state or municipality that created the entity has only a moral commitment, not a legal obligation, to restore the reserve fund.

The marketability, valuation or liquidity of municipal securities may be negatively affected in the event that states, localities or their authorities default on their debt obligations or other market events arise, which in turn may negatively affect fund performance, sometimes substantially. A credit rating downgrade relating to, default by, or insolvency or bankruptcy of, one or several municipal issuers of a particular state, territory, commonwealth, or possession could affect the market value or marketability of any one or all such states, territories, commonwealths, or possessions.

The value of municipal securities may also be affected by uncertainties with respect to the rights of holders of municipal securities in the event of bankruptcy or the taxation of municipal securities as a result of legislation or litigation. For example, under federal law, certain issuers of municipal securities may be authorized in certain circumstances to initiate bankruptcy proceedings without prior notice to or the consent of creditors. Such action could result in material adverse changes in the rights of holders of the securities. In other instances, there has been litigation challenging the issuance of pollution control revenue bonds or the validity of their issuance under state or federal law, which ultimately could affect the validity of those municipal securities or the tax-free nature of the interest thereon.

Promissory Notes are written agreements committing the maker or issuer to pay the payee a specified amount either on demand or at a fixed date in the future, with or without interest. These are sometimes called negotiable notes or instruments and are subject to credit risk. Bank notes are notes used to represent obligations issued by banks in large denominations.

Puts, sometimes called demand features or guarantees, are agreements that allow the buyer of the put to sell a security at a specified price and time to the seller or "put provider." When a fund buys a security with a put feature, losses could occur if the put provider does not perform as agreed. Standby commitments are types of puts.

Quality of Money Market Investments. Each fund follows regulations set forth by the SEC that dictate the quality requirements for investments made by money market mutual funds, as such regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time. Under the regulations, money market funds are required to limit their investments to "eligible securities," which are defined to mean either (i) a security with a remaining maturity of 397 calendar days or less that a fund's board (or its delegate) determines presents minimal credit risks to the fund; (ii) a security that is issued by a registered investment company that is a money market fund; or (iii) a security that is a government security. For securities that are not money market fund securities or government securities, the regulations require a money market fund's board, or an appropriate delegate, to consider a series of factors that money market funds have traditionally used to evaluate the creditworthiness of a portfolio security, including the issuer's or guarantor's: (i) financial condition; (ii) sources of liquidity; (iii) ability to react to market-wide and issuer- or guarantor-specific events, including the ability to repay debt in a highly adverse situation; and (iv) position within its industry, as well as industry strength within the economy and relative economic trends.

Should a portfolio security held by a fund cease to be an eligible security (e.g., no longer presents minimal credit risks), Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (CSIM) shall cause the fund to dispose of such security as soon as practicable, consistent with achieving an orderly disposition of the security, by sale, exercise of any demand feature or otherwise, absent a funding by the fund's Board that disposal of the portfolio security would not be in the best interests of the fund.

Repurchase Agreements involve a fund buying securities from a seller and simultaneously agreeing to sell them back at an agreed-upon price (usually higher) and time. When a fund enters into a repurchase agreement, the fund is exposed to the risk that the other party (i.e., the counterparty) will not fulfill its contractual obligation. In a repurchase agreement, there exists the risk that, when the fund buys a security from a counterparty that agrees to repurchase the security at an agreed upon price (usually higher) and time, the counterparty will not repurchase the security. Repurchase agreements entered into by a fund (other than those where the U.S. government, one of its agencies or one of its instrumentalities is a counterparty, which may include the Federal Reserve Bank of New York) will provide that the underlying collateral, which may be in the form of cash, U.S. government securities, fixed income securities, equity securities or other types of securities, including securities that are rated below investment grade, shall at all times have a value at least equal to 100% of the resale price stated in the agreement. Repurchase agreements where the U.S. government, one of its agencies or one of its instrumentalities is a counterparty will provide that the underlying collateral shall have a value at least equal to 100% of the sale price stated in the agreement. Repurchase agreements with the Federal Reserve Bank of New York are deemed to be investments in U.S. government securities. Repurchase agreements collateralized entirely by cash or U.S. government securities may be deemed to be collateralized fully pursuant to Rule 2a-7 and may be deemed to be investments in the underlying securities.

Each fund, with the exception of Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund, Schwab Government Money Fund, Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund, can accept collateral beyond the criteria of Rule 2a-7, such as debt securities, equity securities and high yield securities that are rated below investment grade (also referred to as junk bonds) ("Alternative Collateral"), which exposes the funds to two categories of risks:

- (1) <u>Diversification and Concentration Risk.</u> Repurchase agreements secured by Alternative Collateral are not deemed to be "collateralized fully" under Rule 2a-7, and the repurchase agreement is therefore considered a separate security issued by the counterparty to the funds. Accordingly, in addition to the risks of a default or bankruptcy of the counterparty, a fund must include repurchase agreements that are not "collateralized fully" in its calculations of securities issued by the counterparty held by the fund for purposes of various diversification and concentration requirements applicable to the fund. In particular, to the extent a counterparty is a "securities related business" for purposes of Section 12(d)(3) of the 1940 Act and Rule 12d3-1 thereunder, a fund would not be permitted to hold more than 5% of its total assets in securities issued by the counterparty, including repurchase agreements that are not "collateralized fully" under Rule 2a-7. While this limitation (as well as other applicable limitations arising under concentration and diversification requirements) limits a fund's exposure to each such counterparty, the fund will be required to monitor its holdings of such securities and ensure that it complies with the applicable limitations; and
- (2) <u>Liquidity Risk.</u> Alternative collateral may not qualify as permitted or appropriate investments for a fund under the fund's investment strategies and limitations. Accordingly, if a counterparty to a repurchase agreement defaults and a fund takes possession of such collateral, the fund may need to promptly dispose of such collateral (or other securities held by the fund, if the fund exceeds a limitation on a permitted investment by virtue of taking possession of the collateral). In cases of market turmoil (which may be associated with a default or bankruptcy of a counterparty), a fund may have more difficulty than anticipated in selling such securities and/or in avoiding a loss on the sale of such securities. This risk may be more heightened in the case of a counterparty's insolvency or bankruptcy, which may restrict a fund's ability to dispose of Alternative Collateral received from the counterparty. The investment adviser follows various procedures to monitor the liquidity and quality of any collateral received under a repurchase agreement (as well as the credit quality of each counterparty) designed to minimize these risks, but there can be no assurance that the procedures will be successful in doing so.

Reduced participation in the repurchase agreement market by counterparties, particularly the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, due to regulatory or market conditions may affect a fund's investment strategies, operations and/or performance.

Restricted Securities are securities that are subject to legal restrictions on their sale. For example, tender option bonds, commercial paper and other promissory notes may be issued under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and may be sold only to qualified institutional buyers, such as the funds, under Securities Act Rule 144A. Securities purchased through a private placement offering are also restricted securities.

Certain restricted securities such as Section 4(a)(2) commercial paper and Rule 144A securities under the 1933 Act, may be considered to be liquid if they meet the criteria for liquidity established by the Board. To the extent a fund invests in restricted securities that are deemed liquid, the general level of illiquidity in a fund's portfolio may increase if buyers in that market become unwilling to purchase the securities.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements. In a reverse repurchase agreement, a fund would sell a security in exchange for cash and enter into an agreement to repurchase the security at a specified future date and price. A fund generally retains the right to interest and principal payments on the security. If a fund uses the cash it obtains to invest in other securities, this may be considered a form of leverage and may expose the fund to greater risk. Leverage tends to magnify the effect of any decrease or increase in the value of the fund's portfolio securities. Because a

fund receives cash upon entering into a reverse repurchase agreement, it may be considered a borrowing. When required by guidelines of the SEC, a fund will set aside permissible liquid assets earmarked or in a segregated account to secure its obligations to repurchase the security.

Securities of Other Investment Companies. Investment companies generally offer investors the advantages of diversification and professional investment management by combining shareholders' money and investing it in securities such as stocks, bonds and money market instruments. Investment companies include: (1) open-end funds (commonly called mutual funds) that issue and redeem their shares on a continuous basis; (2) closed-end funds that offer a fixed number of shares, and are usually listed on an exchange; (3) unit investment trusts that generally offer a fixed number of redeemable shares; and (4) money market funds that typically seek current income by investing in money market securities (see the section titled "Money Market Securities" for more information). Certain open-end funds, closed-end funds and unit investment trusts are traded on exchanges.

Investment companies may make investments and use techniques designed to enhance their performance. These may include delayed-delivery and when-issued securities transactions; swap agreements; buying and selling futures contracts, illiquid, and/or restricted securities and repurchase agreements; and borrowing or lending money and/or portfolio securities. The risks of investing in a particular investment company will generally reflect the risks of the securities in which it invests and the investment techniques it employs. Also, investment companies charge fees and incur expenses.

Federal law restricts the ability of one registered investment company to invest in another. As a result, the extent to which a fund may invest in another investment company may be limited. With respect to investments in other mutual funds, the SEC has granted the Schwab Funds® an exemption from the limitations of the 1940 Act that restrict the amount of securities of underlying mutual funds a Schwab Fund may hold, provided that certain conditions are met. The conditions imposed by the SEC were designed to address certain abuses perceived to be associated with "funds of funds", including unnecessary costs (such as sales loads, advisory fees and administrative costs), and undue influence by the investing fund over the underlying fund. The conditions apply only when a Schwab fund and its affiliates in the aggregate own more than 3% of the outstanding shares of any one underlying fund.

The Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund is prohibited from acquiring any securities of registered open-end investment companies or registered unit investment trusts in reliance on Section 12(d)(1)(G) or Section 12(d)(1)(F) of the 1940 Act.

Under the terms of the exemptive order, each fund and its affiliates may not control a non-affiliated underlying fund. Under the 1940 Act, any person who owns beneficially, either directly or through one or more controlled companies, more than 25% of the voting securities of a company is assumed to control that company. This limitation is measured at the time the investment is made. The funds do not currently intend to take advantage of this exemptive order because the funds are not "funds of funds."

Stripped Securities are securities whose income and principal components are detached and sold separately. While the risks associated with stripped securities are similar to other money market securities, stripped securities are typically subject to greater changes in value. U.S. Treasury securities that have been stripped by the Federal Reserve Bank are obligations of the U.S. Treasury. Privately stripped government securities are created when a dealer deposits a U.S. Treasury security or other U.S. Government security with a custodian for safekeeping; the custodian issues separate receipts for the coupon payments and the principal payment, which the dealer then sells. There are two types of stripped securities: coupon strips, which refer to the zero coupon bonds that are backed by the coupon payments; and principal strips, which are backed by the final repayments of principal. Unlike coupon strips, principal strips do not accrue a coupon payment. They are sold at a discounted price and accrete up to par.

The funds may invest in U.S. Treasury bonds that have been stripped of their unmatured interest coupons, the coupons themselves, and receipts or certificates representing interests in such stripped debt obligations and coupons. Interest on zero coupon bonds is accrued and paid at maturity rather than during the term of the security. Such obligations have greater price volatility than coupon obligations and other normal interest-paying securities, and the value of zero coupon securities reacts more quickly to changes in interest rates than do coupon bonds. Because interest income is accrued throughout the term of the zero coupon obligation, but it is not actually received until maturity, a fund may have to sell other securities to pay dividends from accrued interest income prior to the maturity of the zero coupon obligation.

Unlike regular U.S. Treasury bonds which pay semi-annual interest, U.S. Treasury zero coupon bonds do not generate semi-annual coupon payments. Instead, zero coupon bonds are purchased at a substantial discount from the maturity of such securities. The discount reflects the current value of the deferred interest and is amortized as interest income over the life of the securities; it is taxable even though there is no cash return until maturity.

Zero coupon U.S. Treasury issues originally were created by government bond dealers who bought U.S. Treasury bonds and issued receipts representing an ownership interest in the interest coupons or the principal portion of the bonds. Subsequently, the U.S. Treasury began directly issuing zero coupon bonds with the introduction of the Separate Trading of Registered Interest and Principal of Securities (STRIPS) program. Under the STRIPS program, the principal and interest components are separately issued by the U.S. Treasury at the request of depository financial institutions, which then trade the component parts separately.

While zero coupon bonds eliminate the reinvestment risk of regular coupon issues, i.e., the risk of subsequently investing the periodic interest payments at a lower rate than that of the security currently held, zero coupon bonds fluctuate much more sharply than regular coupon-bearing

bonds. Thus, when interest rates rise, the value of zero coupon bonds will decrease to a greater extent than will the value of regular bonds having the same interest rate.

Temporary Defensive Investments. During unusual market conditions, Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund and Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund may make investments that are not exempt from state and local income taxes as a temporary defensive measure.

U.S. Government Securities are issued by the U.S. Treasury or issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or any of its agencies or instrumentalities. Not all U.S. government securities are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government. Some U.S. government securities, such as those issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), the Student Loan Marketing Association (Sallie Mae), and the Federal Home Loan Banks, are supported by a line of credit the issuing entity has with the U.S. Treasury. Securities issued by other issuers are supported solely by the credit of the issuing agency or instrumentality such as obligations issued by the Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation. There can be no assurance that the U.S. government will provide financial support to U.S. government securities of its agencies and instrumentalities if it is not obligated to do so under law. U.S. government securities, including U.S. Treasury securities, are among the safest securities, however, not unlike other debt securities, they are still sensitive to interest rate changes, which will cause their yields and prices to fluctuate.

On September 7, 2008, the U.S. Treasury announced a federal takeover of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, placing the two federal instrumentalities in conservatorship. Under the takeover, the U.S. Treasury agreed to acquire \$1 billion of senior preferred stock of each instrumentality and obtained warrants for the purchase of common stock of each instrumentality. Under these Senior Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (SPAs), the U.S. Treasury has pledged to provide up to \$100 billion per instrumentality as needed, including the contribution of cash capital to the instrumentalities in the event their liabilities exceed their assets. On May 6, 2009, the U.S. Treasury increased its maximum commitment to each instrumentality under the SPAs to \$200 billion per instrumentality. On December 24, 2009, the U.S. Treasury further amended the SPAs to allow the cap on the U.S. Treasury's funding commitment to increase as necessary to accommodate any cumulative reduction in Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's net worth through the end of 2012. On August 17, 2012, the U.S. Treasury announced that it was again amending the SPAs to terminate the requirement that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac each pay a 10% dividend annually on all amounts received under the funding commitment. Instead, they will transfer to the U.S. Treasury on a quarterly basis all profits earned during a quarter that exceed a capital reserve amount of \$3 billion. The new amendment is designed to put Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in a better position to service their debt because Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac no longer have to borrow from the U.S. Treasury to make fixed dividend payments. Under the new arrangement, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are required to reduce their investment portfolios over time.

The actions of the U.S. Treasury are intended to ensure that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac maintain a positive net worth and meet their financial obligations preventing mandatory triggering of receivership. No assurance can be given that the U.S. Treasury initiatives will be successful. The future for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac remains uncertain. The U.S. Congress continues to evaluate proposals to reduce the U.S. government's role in the mortgage market and to wind down, restructure, consolidate, or privatize Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Should the federal government adopt any such proposal, the value of a fund's investments in securities issued by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac would be impacted. Although the risk of default with U.S. government securities is considered unlikely, any default on the part of a portfolio investment could cause a fund's share price or yield to fall.

The risk of default may be heightened when there is uncertainty relating to negotiations in the U.S. Congress over increasing the statutory debt ceiling. If the U.S. Congress is unable to negotiate an increase to the statutory debt ceiling, the U.S. government may default on certain U.S. government securities including those held by a fund, which could have an adverse impact on the fund. In recent years, the long-term credit rating of the U.S. government was downgraded by a major rating agency as a result of concern about the U.S. government's budget deficit and rising debt burden. Similar downgrades in the future could increase volatility in domestic and foreign financial markets, result in higher interest rates, lower prices of U.S. Treasury securities and increase the costs of different kinds of debt. Although remote, it is at least theoretically possible that under certain scenarios the U.S. government could default on its debt, including U.S. Treasury securities.

U.S. Treasury Securities are obligations of the U.S. Treasury and include bills, notes and bonds. U.S. Treasury securities are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States government.

Variable- and Floating-Rate Debt Securities pay an interest rate, which is adjusted either periodically or at specific intervals or which floats continuously according to a formula or benchmark. Although these structures generally are intended to minimize the fluctuations in value that occur when interest rates rise and fall, some structures may be linked to a benchmark in such a way as to cause greater volatility to the security's value.

Some variable rate securities may be combined with a put or demand feature (variable rate demand securities) that entitles the holder to the right to demand repayment in full or to resell at a specific price and/or time. While the demand feature is intended to reduce credit risks, it is not always unconditional and may be subject to termination if the issuer's credit rating falls below investment grade or if the issuer fails to make payments on other debt. While most variable-rate demand securities allow a fund to exercise its demand rights at any time, some such securities may only allow a fund to exercise its demand rights at certain times, which reduces the liquidity usually associated with this type of security. There may also be a period of time between when a fund exercises its demand rights and when the demand feature provider is obligated to pay. A fund could suffer losses in the event that the demand feature provider, usually a bank, fails to meet its obligation to pay the demand.

Synthetic variable- or floating-rate securities include tender option bond receipts. Tender option bond receipts are derived from fixed-rate municipal bonds that are placed in a trust that also contains a liquidity facility. The Trust issues two classes of receipts, one of which is a synthetic variable-rate demand obligation and one of which is an inverse-rate long-term obligation; each obligation represents a proportionate interest in the underlying bonds. The remarketing agent for the Trust sets a floating- or variable-rate on typically a weekly basis. The synthetic variable-rate demand obligations, or floater receipts, grant the investors (floater holders) the right to require the liquidity provider to purchase the receipts at par, on a periodic (e.g., daily, weekly or monthly) basis. The Trust receives the interest income paid by the issuer of the underlying bonds and, after paying fees to the trustee, remarketing agent and liquidity provider, the remaining income is paid to the floater holders based on the prevailing market rate set by the remarketing agent and the remaining (or inverse) amount is paid to the long-term investor. The Trust is collapsed prior to the maturity of the bonds and the receipt holders may participate in any gain realized from the sale of the bonds at that time. In the event of certain defaults or a significant downgrading in the credit rating assigned to the issuer of the bond, the liquidity facility provider may not be obligated to accept tendered floater receipts. In this event, the underlying bonds in the Trust are priced for sale in the market and the proceeds are used to repay the floater and inverse receipt holders. If the receipt holders cannot be repaid in full from the sale of the underlying bonds then the bonds will be distributed to the receipt holders on a pro-rata basis, in which case the holders would anticipate a loss. Tender option bonds may be considered derivatives and are subject to the risk thereof.

Certain regulations could impact the tender option bonds in which the funds invest. In particular, U.S. regulators adopted rules designed to implement Section 619 (the Volcker Rule) and Section 941 (the Risk Retention Rules) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The Volcker Rule and the Risk Retention Rules apply to, among other things, tender option bond programs. These rules have the effect of restricting banking entities from: (i) acting as a sponsor or acquiring interests in the trusts used to hold a municipal bond in the creation of tender option bond trusts; and (ii) servicing or maintaining relationships with existing programs involving such trusts to the same extent and in the same capacity as existing programs. As a result, these rules may adversely affect the tender option bond market and, more broadly, the municipal bond market, which could negatively impact the funds.

The funds may purchase certain variable-rate demand securities issued by closed-end municipal bond funds, which, in turn, invest primarily in portfolios of tax-exempt municipal bonds. The funds may invest in securities issued by single state or national closed-end municipal bond funds. It is anticipated that the interest on the variable-rate demand securities will be exempt from federal income tax and, with respect to any such securities issued by single state municipal bond funds, exempt from the applicable state's income tax. The variable-rate demand securities will pay a variable dividend rate, determined weekly, typically through a remarketing process, and include a demand feature that provides a fund with a contractual right to tender the securities to a liquidity provider on at least seven (7) days notice. The funds will have the right to seek to enforce the liquidity provider's contractual obligation to purchase the securities, but the funds could lose money if the liquidity provider fails to honor its obligation. The funds have no right to put the securities back to the closed-end municipal bond funds or demand payment or redemption directly from the closed-end municipal bond funds. Further, the variable-rate demand securities are not freely transferable and, therefore, the funds may only transfer the securities to another investor in compliance with certain exemptions under the 1933 Act, including Rule 144A.

A fund's purchase of variable-rate demand securities issued by closed-end municipal bond funds will be subject to the restrictions set forth in the 1940 Act regarding investments in other investment companies.

The funds may invest in tender option bonds the interest on which will, in the opinion of bond counsel or counsel for the issuer of interests therein, be exempt from regular federal income tax. Tender option bond trust receipts generally are structured as private placements and, accordingly, may be deemed to be restricted securities for purposes of a fund's investment limitations.

INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS

The following investment limitations may be changed only by a vote of a majority of each fund's outstanding shares.

Schwab Money Market Fund, Schwab Government Money Fund, Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund, Schwab Investor Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund may not:

- (1) Purchase securities of an issuer, except as consistent with the maintenance of its status as an open-end diversified company under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (2) Concentrate investments in a particular industry or group of industries, as concentration is defined under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (3) Purchase or sell commodities or real estate, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (4) Make loans to other persons, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (5) Borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.

- (6) Underwrite securities issued by other persons, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (7) Issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (8) Purchase securities or make investments other than in accordance with its investment objectives and policies.

Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund, Schwab Cash Reserves, Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves and Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund may not:

- (1) Purchase securities of an issuer, except as consistent with the maintenance of its status as an open-end diversified company under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (2) Concentrate investments in a particular industry or group of industries, as concentration is defined under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (3) Purchase or sell commodities or real estate, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (4) Make loans to other persons, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (5) Borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (6) Underwrite securities issued by other persons, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (7) Issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.

Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund may not:

- (1) Underwrite securities issued by other persons, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (2) Purchase or sell commodities or real estate, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (3) Concentrate investments in a particular industry or group of industries, as concentration is defined under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (4) Make loans to other persons, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (5) Issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (6) Purchase securities of any issuer unless consistent with the maintenance of its status as a diversified company under the 1940 Act or the rules or regulations thereunder, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended from time to time.
- (7) Borrow money, except to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act or the rules or regulations thereunder, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended from time to time.

The following descriptions of the 1940 Act may assist investors in understanding the above fundamental policies and restrictions.

<u>Diversification.</u> Under the 1940 Act, a diversified fund, with respect to 75% of its total assets, may not purchase securities (other than U.S. government securities or securities of other investment companies) if, as a result, more than 5% of its total assets would be invested in the securities of such issuer or it would own more than 10% of such issuer's outstanding voting securities. Money market funds that satisfy the applicable diversification requirements of Rule 2a-7 of the 1940 Act are deemed to satisfy the diversification requirements set forth above.

<u>Borrowing.</u> The 1940 Act presently restricts a fund from borrowing (including pledging, mortgaging or hypothecating assets) in excess of 33 1/3% of its total assets (not including temporary borrowings not in excess of 5% of its total assets).

Lending. Under the 1940 Act, a fund may only make loans if expressly permitted by its investment policies.

<u>Concentration.</u> The SEC presently defines concentration as investing 25% or more of a fund's net assets in an industry or group of industries, with certain exceptions. Municipal securities are not deemed to be issued by an issuer from a single industry or group of industries.

<u>Underwriting.</u> Under the 1940 Act, underwriting securities involves a fund purchasing securities directly from an issuer for the purpose of selling (distributing) them or participating in any such activity either directly or indirectly. Under the 1940 Act, a diversified fund may not make any commitment as underwriter, if immediately thereafter the amount of its outstanding underwriting commitments, plus the value of its investments in securities of issuers (other than investment companies) of which it owns more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities, exceeds 25% of the value of its total assets.

<u>Senior Securities.</u> Senior securities may include any obligation or instrument issued by a fund evidencing indebtedness. The 1940 Act generally prohibits funds from issuing senior securities, although it provides allowances for certain borrowings and certain other investments, such as short sales, reverse repurchase agreements, firm commitment agreements and standby commitments, with appropriate earmarking or segregation of assets to cover such obligations.

Real Estate. The 1940 Act does not directly restrict a fund's ability to invest in real estate, but does require that every fund have a fundamental investment policy governing such investments. The funds have adopted a fundamental policy that would permit direct investment in real estate. However, the funds have a non-fundamental investment limitation that prohibits them from investing directly in real estate. This non-fundamental policy may be changed only by vote of the funds' Board.

The following are non-fundamental investment policies and restrictions, and may be changed by the Board of Trustees.

Each fund may not:

- (1) Purchase securities (other than securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, its agencies or instrumentalities) if, as a result of such purchase, 25% or more of the value of its total assets would be invested in any industry or group of industries.
- (2) Purchase or sell commodities, commodity contracts or real estate, including interests in real estate limited partnerships, provided that the fund may (i) purchase securities of companies that deal in real estate or interests therein (including REITs), (ii) purchase or sell futures contracts, options contracts, equity index participations and index participation contracts, and (iii) purchase securities of companies that deal in precious metals or interests therein.
- (3) Invest more than 5% of its total assets in illiquid securities.
- (4) Purchase securities of other investment companies, except as permitted by the 1940 Act, the rules or regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (5) Lend any security or make any other loan if, as a result, more than 33 1/3% of its total assets would be lent to other parties (this restriction does not apply to purchases of debt securities or repurchase agreements).
- (6) Borrow money except that the fund may (i) borrow money from banks or through an interfund lending facility, if any, only for temporary or emergency purposes (and not for leveraging) and (ii) engage in reverse repurchase agreements with any party; provided that (i) and (ii) in combination do not exceed 33 1/3% of its total assets (any borrowings that come to exceed this amount will be reduced to the extent necessary to comply with the limitation within three business days).
- (7) Sell securities short unless it owns the security or the right to obtain the security or equivalent securities, or unless it covers such short sale as required by current SEC rules and interpretations (transactions in futures contracts, options and other derivative instruments are not considered selling securities short).
- (8) Purchase securities on margin, except such short-term credits as may be necessary for the clearance of purchases and sales of securities and provided that margin deposits in connection with futures contracts, options on futures or other derivative instruments shall not constitute purchasing securities on margin.

Policies and investment limitations that state a maximum percentage of assets that may be invested in a security or other asset, or that set forth a quality standard shall be measured immediately after and as a result of the fund's acquisition of such security or asset, unless otherwise noted. Except with respect to limitations on borrowing, any subsequent change in net assets or other circumstances does not require a fund to sell an investment if it could not then make the same investment. With respect to the limitation on illiquid securities, in the event that a subsequent change in total assets or other circumstances cause a fund to exceed its limitation, the fund will take steps to bring the aggregate amount of illiquid instruments back within the limitations as soon as reasonably practicable.

MANAGEMENT OF THE FUNDS

The funds are overseen by a Board of Trustees. The trustees are responsible for protecting shareholder interests. The trustees regularly meet to review the investment activities, contractual arrangements and the investment performance of each fund. The trustees met six times during the most recent fiscal year.

Certain trustees are "interested persons." A trustee is considered an interested person (Interested Trustee) of the Trust under the 1940 Act if he or she is an officer, director, or an employee of CSIM or Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (Schwab or the distributor). A trustee also may be considered an interested person of the Trust under the 1940 Act if he or she owns stock of The Charles Schwab Corporation (CSC), a publicly traded company and the parent company of CSIM and Schwab.

As used herein the terms "Fund Complex" and "Family of Investment Companies" each refer collectively to The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust which, as of April 27, 2018, included 108 funds. As used herein, the term "Schwab Funds" refers collectively to The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Schwab Capital Trust; the term "Laudus Funds" refers to Laudus Trust; and the term "Schwab ETFs" refers to Schwab Strategic Trust.

Each of the officers and/or trustees serves in the same capacity, unless otherwise noted, for The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Investments, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust. The tables below provide information about the trustees and officers for the Trust, which includes funds in this SAI. The address of each individual listed below is 211 Main Street, San Francisco, California 94105.

Name, Year of Birth, and Position(s) with the Trust (Term of Office and Length of Time Served ¹)	Principal Occupations During the Past Five Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by the Trustee	Other Directorships During the Past Five Years
	INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES		
Robert W. Burns 1959 Trustee (Trustee of Schwab Strategic Trust since 2009; The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Laudus Trust since 2016)	Retired/Private Investor (Jan. 2009-present). Formerly, Managing Director, Pacific Investment Management Company, LLC (PIMCO) (investment management firm) and President, PIMCO Funds.	108	Director, PS Business Parks, Inc. (2005-2012)
John F. Cogan 1947 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust and Schwab Annuity Portfolios since 2008; Laudus Trust since 2010; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2016)	Senior Fellow, The Hoover Institution at Stanford University (public policy think tank) (Oct. 1979-present); Senior Fellow, Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research (2000-present); Professor of Public Policy, Stanford University (1994-2015).	108	Director, Gilead Sciences, Inc. (2005-present)
Stephen Timothy Kochis 1946 Trustee (Trustee of Schwab Strategic Trust since 2012; The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Laudus Trust since 2016)	CEO and Owner, Kochis Global (wealth management consulting) (May 2012-present); Chairman and CEO, Aspiriant, LLC (wealth management) (Jan. 2008-Apr. 2012).	108	None
David L. Mahoney 1954 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Laudus Trust since 2011; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2016)	Private Investor.	108	Director, Symantec Corporation (2003-present) Director, Corcept Therapeutics Incorporated (2004-present) Director, Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (2009-present)
Kiran M. Patel 1948 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Laudus Trust since 2011; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2016)	Retired. Executive Vice President and General Manager of Small Business Group, Intuit, Inc. (financial software and services firm for consumers and small businesses) (Dec. 2008-Sept. 2013).	108	Director, KLA-Tencor Corporation (2008-present)
Kimberly S. Patmore 1956 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2016)	Consultant, Patmore Management Consulting (management consulting) (2008-present).	108	None
Charles A. Ruffel 1956 Trustee (Trustee of Schwab Strategic Trust since 2009; The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Laudus Trust since 2015)	Co-Chief Executive Officer, Kudu Investment Management, LLC (financial services) (Jan. 2015-present); Partner, Kudu Advisors, LLC (financial services) (June 2008-Jan. 2015); Advisor, Asset International, Inc. (publisher of financial services information) (Aug. 2008-Jan. 2015).	108	None

Name, Year of Birth, and Position(s) with the Trust (Term of Office and Length of Time Served ¹)	Principal Occupations During the Past Five Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by the Trustee	Other Directorships During the Past Five Years
	INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES		
Gerald B. Smith 1950 Trustee	Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Founder of Smith Graham & Co. (investment advisors)	108	Director, Eaton (2012-present)
(Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust and Schwab Annuity Portfolios since 2000; Laudus Trust	(Mar. 1990-present).		Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee, Oneok Partners LP (2003-2013)
since 2010; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2016)			Director, Oneok, Inc. (2009-2013)
			Lead Independent Director, Board of Cooper Industries (2002-2012)
Joseph H. Wender 1944 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust and	Senior Consultant, Goldman Sachs & Co., Inc. (investment banking and securities firm) (Jan. 2008-present); Co-CEO, Colgin Cellars, LLC (vineyards) (Feb. 1998-present).	108	Board Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee, Ionis Pharmaceuticals (1994-present)
Schwab Annuity Portfolios since 2008; Laudus Trust since 2010; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2016)			Lead Independent Director and Chair of Audit Committee, OUTFRONT Media Inc. (2014-present)
	INTERESTED TRUSTEES		
Walter W. Bettinger II ² 1960 Chairman and Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust and Schwab Annuity Portfolios since 2008; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2009; Laudus Trust since 2010)	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer, The Charles Schwab Corporation (Oct. 2008-present); President and Chief Executive Officer (Oct. 2008-present), Director (May 2008-present), Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.; Director, Charles Schwab Bank (Apr. 2006-present); Director (May 2008-present), President and Chief Executive Officer (Aug. 2017-present), Schwab Holdings, Inc.; and Director, Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (July 2016-present).	108	Director, The Charles Schwab Corporation (2008-present)
Marie A. Chandoha ² 1961 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2016)	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer (Dec. 2010-present), Chief Investment Officer (Sept. 2010-Oct. 2011), Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc.; Trustee (Jan. 2016-present), President, Chief Executive Officer (Dec. 2010-present), and Chief Investment Officer (Sept. 2010-Oct. 2011), Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds and Schwab ETFs; Director, Charles Schwab Worldwide Funds plc and Charles Schwab Asset Management (Ireland) Limited (Jan. 2011-present); Global Head of Fixed Income Business Division, BlackRock, Inc. (formerly Barclays Global Investors) (investment management firm) (Mar. 2007-Aug. 2010).	108	None
Joseph R. Martinetto ² 1962 Trustee (Trustee of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2016)	Chief Operating Officer (Feb. 2018-present), Senior Executive Vice President (July 2015-Feb. 2018), The Charles Schwab Corporation; Senior Executive Vice President, Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (July 2015-present); Chief Financial Officer (July 2015-Aug. 2017), Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (May 2007-July 2015), The Charles Schwab Corporation and Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.; Director, Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (May 2007-present); Director (Apr. 2010-present) and Chief Executive Officer (July 2013-Apr. 2015), Charles Schwab Bank; Director (May 2007-present), Chief Financial Officer (May 2007-Aug. 2017), Senior Executive Vice President (Feb. 2016-present), and Executive Vice President (May 2007-Feb. 2016), Schwab Holdings, Inc.	108	None

OFF	CERS
Marie A. Chandoha 1961 President and Chief Executive Officer (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2010)	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer (Dec. 2010-present), Chief Investment Officer (Sept. 2010-Oct. 2011), Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc.; Trustee (Jan. 2016-present), President, Chief Executive Officer (Dec. 2010-present), and Chief Investment Officer (Sept. 2010-Oct. 2011), Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds and Schwab ETFs; Director, Charles Schwab Worldwide Funds plc and Charles Schwab Asset Management (Ireland) Limited (Jan. 2011-present); Global Head of Fixed Income Business Division, BlackRock, Inc. (formerly Barclays Global Investors) (investment management firm) (Mar. 2007-Aug. 2010).
Mark Fischer 1970 Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2013)	Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer, Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds and Schwab ETFs (Jan. 2016-present); Assistant Treasurer, Schwab Funds and Laudus Funds (Dec. 2013-Dec. 2015), Schwab ETFs (Nov. 2013-Dec. 2015); Vice President, Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (Oct. 2013-present); Executive Director, J.P. Morgan Investor Services (Apr. 2011-Sept. 2013); Assistant Treasurer, Massachusetts Financial Service Investment Management (May 2005-Mar. 2011).
George Pereira 1964 Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust and Schwab Annuity Portfolios since 2004; Laudus Trust since 2006; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2009)	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Nov. 2004-present), Chief Operating Officer (Jan. 2011-present), Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc.; Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer (Jan. 2016-present), Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer, Laudus Funds (June 2006-Dec. 2015); Treasurer and Principal Financial Officer, Schwab Funds (Nov. 2004-Dec. 2015) and Schwab ETFs (Oct. 2009-Dec. 2015); Director, Charles Schwab Worldwide Funds plc and Charles Schwab Asset Management (Ireland) Limited (Apr. 2005-present).
Omar Aguilar 1970 Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer – Equities and Multi-Asset Strategies (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2011)	Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer – Equities and Multi-Asset Strategies, Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (Apr. 2011-present); Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer – Equities, Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds and Schwab ETFs (June 2011-present); Head of the Portfolio Management Group and Vice President of Portfolio Management, Financial Engines, Inc. (investment management firm) (May 2009-Apr. 2011); Head of Quantitative Equity, ING Investment Management (July 2004-Jan. 2009).
Brett Wander 1961 Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer – Fixed Income (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2011)	Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer – Fixed Income, Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (Apr. 2011-present); Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer – Fixed Income, Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds and Schwab ETFs (June 2011-present); Senior Managing Director, Global Head of Active Fixed-Income Strategies, State Street Global Advisors (Jan. 2008-Oct. 2010); Director of Alpha Strategies Loomis, Sayles & Company (investment management firm) (Apr. 2006-Jan. 2008).
David Lekich 1964 Chief Legal Officer and Secretary, Schwab Funds and Schwab ETFs Vice President and Assistant Clerk, Laudus Funds (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust since 2011)	Senior Vice President (Sept. 2011-present), Vice President (Mar. 2004-Sept. 2011), Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.; Senior Vice President and Chief Counsel (Sept. 2011-present), Vice President (Jan. 2011-Sept. 2011), Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc.; Secretary (Apr. 2011-present) and Chief Legal Officer (Dec. 2011-present), Schwab Funds; Vice President and Assistant Clerk, Laudus Funds (Apr. 2011-present); Secretary (May 2011-present) and Chief Legal Officer (Nov. 2011-present), Schwab ETFs.
Catherine MacGregor 1964 Vice President and Assistant Secretary, Schwab Funds and Schwab ETFs Chief Legal Officer, Vice President and Clerk, Laudus Funds (Officer of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Annuity Portfolios and Laudus Trust since 2005; Schwab Strategic Trust since 2009)	Vice President, Charles Schwab & Co., Inc., Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (July 2005-present); Vice President (Dec. 2005-present), Chief Legal Officer and Clerk (Mar. 2007-present), Laudus Funds; Vice President (Nov. 2005-present) and Assistant Secretary (June 2007-present), Schwab Funds; Vice President and Assistant Secretary, Schwab ETFs (Oct. 2009-present).

- Each Trustee shall hold office until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or until he or she dies, resigns or is removed. The retirement policy requires that each independent trustee retire by December 31 of the year in which the Trustee turns 74 or the Trustee's twentieth year of service as an independent trustee on any trust in the Fund Complex, whichever occurs first.
- Mr. Bettinger, Ms. Chandoha and Mr. Martinetto are Interested Trustees. Mr. Bettinger is an Interested Trustee because he owns stock of CSC, the parent company of CSIM, the investment adviser for the trusts in the Fund Complex, is an employee and director of Schwab, the principal underwriter for The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust and Schwab Annuity Portfolios, and is a director of CSIM. Ms. Chandoha is an Interested Trustee because she owns stock of CSC and is an employee and director of CSIM. Mr. Martinetto is an Interested Trustee because he owns stock of CSC and is an employee and director of Schwab.
- The President, Treasurer and Secretary/Clerk hold office until their respective successors are chosen and qualified or until he or she sooner dies, resigns, is removed or becomes disqualified. Each of the other officers serves at the pleasure of the Board.

Board Leadership Structure

The Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Walter W. Bettinger II, is Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of CSC and an interested person of the Trust as that term is defined in the 1940 Act. The Board is comprised of a super-majority (75 percent) of trustees who are not interested persons of the Trust (i.e., independent trustees). The Trust does not have a single lead independent trustee. There are three

primary committees of the Board: the Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee; the Governance Committee; and the Investment Oversight Committee. Each of the Committee is chaired by an independent trustee, and each Committee is comprised solely of independent trustees. The Committee chairs preside at Committee meetings, participate in formulating agendas for those meetings, and coordinate with management to serve as a liaison between the independent trustees and management on matters within the scope of the responsibilities of each Committee as set forth in its Board-approved charter. The Board has determined that this leadership structure is appropriate given the specific characteristics and circumstances of the Trust. The Board made this determination in consideration of, among other things, the fact that the independent trustees of the Trust constitute a super-majority of the Board, the fact that Committee chairs are independent trustees, the number of funds (and classes) overseen by the Board, and the total number of trustees on the Board.

Board Oversight of Risk Management

Like most investment companies, fund management and its other service providers have responsibility for day-to-day risk management for the funds. The Board's duties, as part of its risk oversight of the Trust, consist of monitoring risks identified during regular and special reports to the Committees of the Board, as well as regular and special reports to the full Board. In addition to monitoring such risks, the Committees and the Board oversee efforts of fund management and service providers to manage risks to which the funds of the Trust may be exposed. For example, the Investment Oversight Committee meets with portfolio managers and receives regular reports regarding investment risk and credit risk of a fund's portfolio. The Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee meets with the funds' Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer and receives regular reports regarding compliance risks, operational risks and risks related to the valuation and liquidity of portfolio securities. From its review of these reports and discussions with management, each Committee receives information about the material risks of the funds of the Trust and about how management and service providers mitigate those risks, enabling the independent Committee chairs and other independent members of the Committees to discuss these risks with the full Board.

The Board recognizes that not all risks that may affect the funds can be identified nor can processes and controls be developed to eliminate or mitigate the occurrence or effects of certain risks; some risks are simply beyond the reasonable control of the funds, their management, and service providers. Although the risk oversight functions of the Board, and the risk management policies of fund management and fund service providers, are designed to be effective, there is no guarantee that they will eliminate or mitigate all risks. In addition, it may be necessary to bear certain risks (such as investment-related risks) to achieve each fund's investment objective. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the funds' ability to manage risk is subject to significant limitations.

Individual Trustee Qualifications

The Board has concluded that each of the trustees should initially and continue to serve on the Board because of (i) his or her ability to review and understand information about the Trust provided to them by management, to identify and request other information they may deem relevant to the performance of their duties, to question management regarding material factors bearing on the management of the Trust, and to exercise their business judgment in a manner that serves the best interests of the Trust's shareholders and (ii) the trustee's experience, qualifications, attributes or skills as described below.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Bettinger should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained as president and chief executive officer of The Charles Schwab Corporation, his knowledge of and experience in the financial services industry, and the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab Funds since 2008, the Schwab ETFs since 2009, and the Laudus Funds since 2010.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Burns should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained as managing director of Pacific Investment Management Company, LLC (PIMCO) and president of PIMCO Funds as well as the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab ETFs since 2009, and his experience serving as chair of the Schwab ETFs' Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee until December 2015.

The Board has concluded that Ms. Chandoha should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience she gained as president and chief executive officer of Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc., the Schwab Funds, Schwab ETFs and Laudus Funds, as well as her knowledge of and experience in financial and investment management services.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Cogan should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he has gained serving as a senior fellow and professor of public policy at a university and his former service in government, the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab Funds since 2008 and Laudus Funds since 2010, and his service on other public company boards.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Kochis should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained serving as chair and chief executive officer of Aspiriant, LLC, an advisory firm, as well as his knowledge of and experience in wealth management consulting and the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab ETFs since 2012.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Mahoney should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained serving as trustee of the Schwab Funds and Laudus Funds since 2011, as co-chief executive officer of a healthcare services company, and his service on other public company boards.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Martinetto should serve as trustee of the Trust because of his experience serving as senior executive vice president and chief financial officer of The Charles Schwab Corporation and Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Patel should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained serving as trustee of the Schwab Funds and Laudus Funds since 2011, as executive vice president, general manager and chief financial officer of a software company, his service on other public company boards, and his experience serving as chair of the Schwab Funds' and Laudus Funds' Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee.

The Board has concluded that Ms. Patmore should serve as trustee of the Trust because of her experience serving as chief financial officer and executive vice president of First Data Payment Business and First Data Corporation, as well as her knowledge of and experience in management consulting.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Ruffel should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained as the founder and former chief executive officer of a publisher and information services firm specializing in the retirement plan industry, his experience in and knowledge of the financial services industry, the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab ETFs since 2009, and his experience serving as chair of the Schwab ETFs' Investment Oversight Committee until December 2015.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Smith should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he has gained as managing partner of his own investment advisory firm, the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab Funds since 2000, as trustee of the Laudus Funds since 2010, his service on other public company boards, and his experience serving as chair of the Schwab Funds' and Laudus Funds' Investment Oversight Committee.

The Board has concluded that Mr. Wender should serve as trustee of the Trust because of the experience he gained serving as former partner and head of the financial institutions group of an investment bank, the experience he has gained serving as trustee of the Schwab Funds since 2008, as trustee of the Laudus Funds since 2010, and his service on other public company boards.

Trustee Committees

The Board of Trustees has established certain committees and adopted Committee charters with respect to those committees, each as described below:

- The Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee reviews the integrity of the Trust's financial reporting processes and compliance policies, procedures and processes, and the Trust's overall system of internal controls. The Audit, Compliance and Valuation Committee also reviews and evaluates the qualifications, independence and performance of the Trust's independent auditors, and the implementation and operation of the Trust's valuation policies and procedures. This Committee is comprised of at least three independent trustees and currently has the following members: Kiran M. Patel (Chairman), Robert W. Burns, John F. Cogan and Kimberly S. Patmore. The Committee met four times during the most recent fiscal year.
- The Governance Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding Trust governance-related matters, including but not limited to Board compensation practices, retirement policies and term limits, Board self-evaluations, the effectiveness and allocation of assignments and functions by the Board, the composition of Committees of the Board, and the training of Trustees. The Governance Committee is responsible for selecting and nominating candidates to serve as Trustees. The Governance Committee does not have a written policy with respect to consideration of candidates for Trustee submitted by shareholders. However, if the Governance Committee determined that it would be in the best interests of the Trust to fill a vacancy on the Board, and a shareholder submitted a candidate for consideration by the Board to fill the vacancy, the Governance Committee would evaluate that candidate in the same manner as it evaluates nominees identified by the Governance Committee. Nominee recommendations may be submitted to the Secretary of the Trust at the Trust's principal business address. This Committee is comprised of at least three independent trustees and currently has the following members: John F. Cogan (Chairman), Stephen Timothy Kochis, David L. Mahoney and Joseph H. Wender. The Committee met four times during the most recent fiscal year.
- The Investment Oversight Committee reviews the investment activities of the Trust and the performance of the Funds' investment
 adviser. This Committee is comprised of at least three Trustees (at least two-thirds of whom shall be independent trustees) and
 currently has the following members: Gerald B. Smith (Chairman), Stephen Timothy Kochis, David L. Mahoney, Charles A. Ruffel and
 Joseph H. Wender. The Committee met five times during the most recent fiscal year.

Trustee Compensation

The following table provides trustee compensation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, earned with respect to the fund and the Fund Complex.

Name of Trustee	Aggregate Compensation from the Funds in this SAI	Pension or Retirement Benefits Accrued as Part of Fund Expenses	Total Compensation from the Funds and Fund Complex Paid to Trustees	
INTERESTED TRUSTEES				
Walter W. Bettinger II	None	N/A	None	
Marie A. Chandoha	None	N/A	None	
Joseph R. Martinetto	None	N/A	None	

Name of Trustee	Aggregate Compensation from the Funds in this SAI	Pension or Retirement Benefits Accrued as Part of Fund Expenses	and Fund Complex Paid to Trustees
	INDEPENDENT	TRUSTEES	
Robert W. Burns	\$77,019	N/A	\$290,000
John F. Cogan	\$82,330	N/A	\$310,000
Stephen Timothy Kochis	\$77,019	N/A	\$290,000
David L. Mahoney	\$77,019	N/A	\$290,000
Kiran M. Patel	\$82,330	N/A	\$310,000
Kimberly S. Patmore	\$77,019	N/A	\$290,000
Charles A. Ruffel	\$77,019	N/A	\$290,000
Gerald B. Smith	\$82,330	N/A	\$310,000
Joseph H. Wender	\$77,019	N/A	\$290,000

Securities Beneficially Owned by Each Trustee

The following table provides each trustee's equity ownership of the funds and ownership of all registered investment companies overseen by each trustee in the Family of Investment Companies as of December 31, 2017.

Name of Trustee	Dollar Range of Trustee Ownership of the Fund	ds Included in the SAI	Aggregate Dollar Range of Trustee Ownership in the Family of Investment Companies
The state of the s	INTERESTED TRUSTEES		o. mroomone companies
Walter W. Bettinger II			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	\$10,001-\$50,000	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	\$1-\$10,000	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
Marie A. Chandoha			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	None	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	\$1-\$10,000	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
Joseph R. Martinetto			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	None	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	\$50,001,-\$100,000	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	

Name of musice	INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES	included in the OAI	of investment companies
Robert W. Burns	INDEPENDENT INUSTEES		Over \$100,000
RODEIT W. DUIIIS	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	Over \$100,000
	Schwab Government Money Fund	None	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
		None	
	Schwab Treasure Obligations Manay Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	0 440000
John F. Cogan	0	N.	Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
Stephen Timothy Kochis			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	\$1-\$10,000	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
David L. Mahoney			\$10,001-\$50,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	\$10,001-\$50,000	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	

Name of Trustee	Dollar Range of Trustee Ownership of the Funds I	ncluded in the SAI	of Investment Companies
	INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES		
Kiran M. Patel			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	None	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
Kimberly S. Patmore			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
Charles A. Ruffel	•		Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	None	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
Gerald B. Smith	,		Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	Over \$100,000	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	
	Ochwab Rethement Government Worldy Fund	Notice	

	INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES		
Joseph H. Wender			Over \$100,000
	Schwab Money Market Fund	None	
	Schwab Government Money Fund	None	
	Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	None	
	Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Investor Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	
	Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	

As of December 31, 2017, none of the independent trustees or their immediate family members owned beneficially or of record any securities of CSIM or Schwab, or in a person (other than a registered investment company) directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with CSIM or Schwab.

Deferred Compensation Plan

Independent trustees may enter into a fee deferral plan. Under this plan, deferred fees will be credited to an account established by the Trust as of the date that such fees would have been paid to the trustee. The value of this account will equal the value that the account would have if the fees credited to the account had been invested in the shares of Schwab Funds® selected by the trustee. Currently, none of the independent trustees has elected to participate in this plan.

Code of Ethics

The funds, CSIM and Schwab have adopted a Code of Ethics as required under the 1940 Act. Subject to certain conditions or restrictions, the Code of Ethics permits the trustees, directors, officers or advisory representatives of the funds or CSIM or the directors or officers of Schwab to buy or sell directly or indirectly securities for their own accounts. This includes securities that may be purchased or held by the funds. Securities transactions by some of these individuals may be subject to prior approval of the investment adviser's Chief Compliance Officer or alternate. Most securities transactions are subject to quarterly reporting and review requirements.

CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES

As of March 30, 2018, the officers and trustees of the Trust, as a group, owned, of record or beneficially, less than 1% of the outstanding voting securities of the funds.

Persons who owned of record or beneficially more than 25% of a fund's outstanding shares may be deemed to control the fund within the meaning of the 1940 Act. Shareholders controlling a fund could have the ability to vote a majority of the shares of the fund on any matter requiring the approval of shareholders of the fund.

As of March 30, 2018, Appendix – Principal Holders of Securities lists persons or entities that owned, of record or beneficially, 5% or more of the outstanding voting securities of any class of the listed funds.

INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES

Investment Adviser

CSIM, a wholly owned subsidiary of CSC, 211 Main Street, San Francisco, CA 94105, serves as the funds' investment adviser and administrator pursuant to an Investment Advisory and Administration Agreement (Advisory Agreement) between it and the Trust. Schwab is an affiliate of the investment adviser and is the Trust's distributor. Charles R. Schwab is the founder, Chairman and Director of CSC. As a result of his ownership of and interests in CSC, Mr. Schwab may be deemed to be a controlling person of the investment adviser and Schwab.

Advisory Agreement

The continuation of a fund's Advisory Agreement must be specifically approved at least annually (1) by the vote of the trustees or by a vote of the shareholders of the fund, and (2) by the vote of a majority of the trustees who are not parties to the investment advisory agreement or "interested persons" of any party (independent trustees), cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval.

Each year, the Board calls and holds a meeting to decide whether to renew the Advisory Agreement between the Trust and CSIM with respect to existing funds in the Trust. In preparation for the meeting, the Board requests and reviews a wide variety of materials provided by CSIM, as well as extensive data provided by third parties, and the independent trustees receive advice from counsel to the independent trustees.

For its advisory and administrative services to each fund, CSIM is entitled to receive a graduated annual fee payable monthly based on each fund's average daily net assets as described below.

Average Daily Net Assets	Fee
First \$1 billion	0.35%
More than \$1 billion but not exceeding \$10 billion	0.32%
More than \$10 billion but not exceeding \$20 billion	0.30%
More than \$20 billion but not exceeding \$40 billion	0.27%
More than \$40 billion	0.25%

The following table shows the net advisory fees paid by each fund and gross fees reduced by each fund from for the past three fiscal years. The figures in the "net fees paid" row represent the actual amounts paid to CSIM, which include the effect of any reductions due to the application of a fund's contractual expense limitation agreement. The figures in the "gross fees reduced by" row represent the amount, if any, the advisory fees payable to CSIM were reduced due to the application of a fund's expense contractual expense limitation agreement.

Fund		2017	2016	2015
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 36,933,380	\$21,612,530	\$ 19,714,952
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 23,374,839	\$14,082,943	\$ 13,810,060
Schwab Money Market Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 27,443,720	\$30,878,284	\$ 0
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 0	\$13,305,209	\$ 46,888,516
Schwab Government Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 86,968,302	\$80,565,708	\$ 58,634,394
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 0	\$ 4,198,306	\$ 11,665,829
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 53,657,249	\$29,418,494	\$ 0
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 0	\$32,587,340	\$ 62,658,165
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 753,173	\$ 1,313,898	\$ 69,624
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 77,352	\$ 535,782	\$ 2,415,328
Schwab Investor Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 2,016,371	\$ 2,497,442	\$ 0
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 82,636	\$ 383,090	\$ 3,395,246
Schwab Cash Reserves	Net fees paid	\$108,997,166	\$76,345,443	\$ 0
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 1,442,852	\$39,141,797	\$114,121,222
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	Net fees paid	\$ 46,567,508	\$51,130,623	\$ 46,572,790
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 0	\$10,198,980	\$ 20,774,850
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 8,502,092	\$ 2,859,512	\$ 1,846,821
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 604,240	\$ 1,429,184	\$ 2,330,646
Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	Net fees paid	\$ 1,383,325	\$ 213,351 ¹	-
	Gross fees reduced by	\$ 1,425,974	\$ 429,017 ¹	-

For the period May 17, 2016 through December 31, 2016.

Effective October 3, 2017, CSIM and its affiliates have agreed to limit the total annual fund operating expenses (excluding interest, taxes and certain non-routine expenses) of each fund below as follows for so long as CSIM serves as the adviser to the fund (a contractual expense limitation agreement).

Fund	Expense Cap
Schwab Money Market Fund	0.66%
Schwab Government Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.70%
Schwab Government Money Fund - Investor Shares	0.35%
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.55%
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.35%
Schwab Cash Reserves	0.61%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves – Sweep Shares	0.61%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves – Premier Sweep Shares	0.54%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.35%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund - Ultra Shares	0.19%

Fund	Expense Cap
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	0.35%
Schwab Investor Money Fund	0.35%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund – Sweep Shares	
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund – Investor Shares	
Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	

Prior to October 3, 2017, CSIM and its affiliates had agreed to limit the total annual fund operating expenses (excluding interest, taxes, and certain non-routine expenses) of each fund below as follows:

Fund	Expense Cap
Schwab Money Market Fund	0.71%
Schwab Government Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.75%
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.60%
Schwab Cash Reserves	0.66%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves – Sweep Shares	0.66%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves - Premier Sweep Shares	0.59%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.45%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund - Ultra Shares	0.21%
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	0.49%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.65%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.45%
Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	0.20%

A fund's contractual expense limitation agreement may only be amended or terminated with the approval of the fund's Board. The contractual expense limitation agreement may not be recaptured by CSIM. A contractual expense limitation agreement, where applicable, is not intended to cover all fund expenses, and a fund's expenses may exceed the amount of the expense limitation set forth in a contractual expense limitation agreement. For example, the contractual expense limitation agreement does not cover investment-related expenses, such as brokerage commissions, interest, taxes and the fees and expenses of pooled investment vehicles, such as other investment companies, nor does it cover extraordinary or non-routine expenses, if any, such as shareholder meeting costs.

Distributor

Pursuant to a Second Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement between Schwab and the Trust, Schwab, located at 211 Main Street, San Francisco, California, 94105, is the principal underwriter for shares of the funds and is the Trust's agent for the purpose of the continuous offering of the funds' shares. The funds pay for prospectuses and shareholder reports to be prepared and delivered to existing shareholders. Schwab pays such costs when the described materials are used in connection with the offering of shares to prospective investors and for supplemental sales literature and advertising. Schwab receives no fee under the Distribution Agreement; however, as described below in "Payments to Financial Intermediaries," CSIM compensates Schwab, in its capacity as a financial intermediary and not in its capacity as distributor and principal underwriter for the funds, for providing certain additional services that may be deemed to be distribution-related.

Payments to Financial Intermediaries

CSIM and its affiliates may make payments to broker-dealers, banks, trust companies, insurance companies, retirement plan service providers, consultants and other financial intermediaries (Intermediaries) for services and expenses incurred in connection with certain activities or services which may educate financial advisors or facilitate, directly or indirectly, investment in the funds and other investment companies advised by CSIM, including Schwab ETFs. These payments are made by CSIM or its affiliates at their own expense, and not from the assets of the funds. Although a portion of CSIM's and its affiliates' revenue comes directly or indirectly in part from fees paid by the funds, these payments do not increase the expenses paid by investors for the purchase of fund shares, or the cost of owning a fund.

These payments may relate to educational efforts regarding the funds, or for other activities, such as marketing and/or fund promotion activities and presentations, educational training programs, conferences, data analytics and support, the development and support of technology platforms and/or reporting systems. In addition, CSIM may make payments to Intermediaries that make shares of the funds available to their customers or otherwise promote the funds, which may include Intermediaries that allow customers to buy and sell fund shares without paying a commission or other transaction charge. Payments of this type are sometimes referred to as revenue-sharing or marketing support.

Payments made to Intermediaries may be significant and may cause an Intermediary to make decisions about which investment options it will recommend or make available to its clients or what services to provide for various products based on payments it receives or is eligible to receive. As a result, these payments could create conflicts of interest between an Intermediary and its clients and these financial incentives may cause the Intermediary to recommend the funds over other investments.

As of April 27, 2018, CSIM anticipates that Cambridge Investment Research, Inc., Ladenburg Thalmann Advisor Network LLC, LPL Financial LLC, Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC and Northwestern Mutual Investment Services, LLC will receive these payments. CSIM may enter into similar agreements with other FINRA member firms (or their affiliates) in the future. In addition to member firms of FINRA, CSIM and its affiliates may also make these payments to certain other financial intermediaries, such as banks, trust companies, insurance companies, and plan administrators and consultants that sell fund shares or provide services to the funds and their shareholders. These firms may not be included in this list. You should ask your financial intermediary if it receives such payments.

As noted above, CSIM also makes payments to Schwab for certain additional services provided by Schwab, in its capacity as an affiliated financial intermediary and not as distributor and principal underwriter of the funds, with regard to its brokerage customers who are shareholders of the funds. These payments may include services related to sales lead generation, client support, assistance with public relations, marketing and/or fund promotion activities and presentations, educational training programs, conferences, data analytics and support, and the development and support of technology platforms and/or reporting systems.

Shareholder Servicing and Sweep Administration Plan

Effective October 3, 2017, the Trust's Board adopted an amended Shareholder Servicing and Sweep Administration Plan (the Plan) on behalf of the funds of the Trust. The Plan enables the funds to bear expenses relating to the provision by financial intermediaries, including Schwab (together, service providers), of certain shareholder services to the current shareholders of the funds. Pursuant to the Plan, each fund is subject to an annual shareholder servicing fee, up to the amount set forth below:

Fund	Shareholder Servicing Fee	
Schwab Money Market Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Government Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Government Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.15%	
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Cash Reserves – Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves - Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves - Premier Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Ultra Shares	0.00%	
Schwab Investor Money Fund	0.15%	
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	0.15%	
Schwab Treasury Obligations Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Treasury Obligations Fund – Investor Shares	0.15%	
Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	0.00%	

Prior to October 3, 2017, pursuant to a previous plan, each fund's shares were subject to an annual shareholder servicing fee, up to the amounts set forth below:

Fund	Shareholder Servicing Fee
Schwab Money Market Fund – Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Government Money Fund - Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Government Money Fund - Investor Shares	0.25%
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund - Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Cash Reserves – Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves - Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves - Premier Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Investor Shares	0.25%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Ultra Shares	0.02%
Schwab Investor Money Fund	0.25%
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	0.22%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Fund – Sweep Shares	0.25%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Fund - Investor Shares	0.22%

Pursuant to the Plan, the funds may pay service providers (including Schwab) that, pursuant to written agreements with Schwab or the Trust, provide certain account maintenance, customer liaison and shareholder services to fund shareholders. The service providers may provide fund shareholders with the following shareholder services, among other shareholder services: (i) maintaining records for shareholders that hold

shares of a fund; (ii) communicating with shareholders, including the mailing of regular statements and confirmation statements, distributing fund-related materials, mailing prospectuses and reports to shareholders, and responding to shareholder inquiries; (iii) communicating and processing shareholder purchase, redemption and exchange orders; (iv) communicating mergers, splits or other reorganization activities to fund shareholders; and (v) preparing and filing tax information, returns and reports.

The shareholder servicing fee paid to a particular service provider is calculated at the annual rate set forth in the chart above and is based on the average daily net asset value of the fund shares owned by shareholders holding shares through such service provider. Payments under the Plan are made as described above without regard to whether the fee is more or less than the service provider's actual cost of providing the services, and if more, such excess may be retained as profit by the service provider.

Pursuant to the Plan, certain funds may pay Schwab for certain administration services it provides to fund shareholders invested in the Sweep Shares and Premier Sweep Shares of such funds. Schwab may provide fund shareholders with the following sweep administration services, among other sweep administration services: processing of automatic purchases and redemptions. Pursuant to the Plan, each of these funds is subject to an annual sweep administration fee, up to the amount set forth below:

Fund	Sweep Administration Fee
Schwab Money Market Fund - Sweep Shares	0.15%
Schwab Government Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves – Sweep Shares	0.15%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves – Premier Sweep Shares	0.15%
Schwab Cash Reserves – Sweep Shares	0.15%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Fund – Sweep Shares	0.15%

The sweep administration fee paid to Schwab is calculated at the annual rate set forth in the chart above and is based on the average daily net asset value of the fund (or class) shares owned by shareholders holding shares through Schwab. Payments under the Plan are made as described above regardless of Schwab's actual cost of providing the administration services. If the cost of providing the administration services under the Plan is less than the payments received, the unexpended portion of the sweep administration fees may be retained as profit by Schwab. In the event Schwab discontinues the sweep administration services it provides to fund shareholders in the Sweep Shares in their entirety, it will not continue to collect the Sweep Administration Fee.

The Plan shall continue in effect for a fund for so long as its continuance is specifically approved at least annually by a vote of the majority of both (i) the Board of Trustees of the Trust and (ii) the Trustees of the Trust who are not interested persons of the Trust and who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Plan or any agreements related to it (the Qualified Trustees). The Plan requires that Schwab or any person authorized to direct the disposition of monies paid or payable by the funds pursuant to the Plan furnish quarterly written reports of amounts spent under the Plan and the purposes of such expenditures to the Board of Trustees of the Trust for review. All material amendments to the Plan must be approved by votes of the majority of both (i) the Board of Trustees and (ii) the Qualified Trustees.

Transfer Agent

DST Asset Manager Solutions, Inc., 2000 Crown Colony Drive, Quincy, Massachusetts 02169-0953, serves as the funds' transfer agent. As part of these services, the firm maintains records pertaining to the sale, redemption and transfer of the funds' shares.

Custodian and Fund Accountant

State Street Bank and Trust Company (State Street), One Lincoln Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, serves as custodian and fund accountant for the funds.

The custodian is responsible for the daily safekeeping of securities and cash held or sold by the funds. The fund accountant maintains the books and records related to each fund's transactions.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The funds' independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), Three Embarcadero Center, San Francisco, California 94111, audits and reports on the annual financial statements of the funds and reviews certain regulatory reports and each fund's federal income tax return. PwC also performs other professional, accounting, auditing, tax and advisory services when engaged to do so by the Trust.

Securities Lending Activities

As of the most recent fiscal year-end, the funds had not entered into a contract with a securities lending agent and were not engaged in securities lending.

Other Expenses

The funds pay other expenses that typically are connected with the Trust's operations, and include legal, audit and custodian fees, as well as the costs of accounting and registration of the funds. Expenses not directly attributable to a particular fund will generally be allocated among the funds in the Trust on the basis of each fund's relative net assets at the time the expense is incurred.

BROKERAGE ALLOCATION AND OTHER PRACTICES

Portfolio Turnover

Because securities with maturities of less than one year are excluded from required portfolio turnover rate calculations, the funds' portfolio turnover rate for reporting purposes is expected to be near zero.

Portfolio Transactions

The investment adviser makes decisions with respect to the purchase and sale of portfolio securities on behalf of the funds. The investment adviser is responsible for implementing these decisions, including the negotiation of commissions and the allocation of principal business and portfolio brokerage. A fund generally does not incur any commissions or sales charges when it invests in underlying Schwab Funds or Laudus Funds, but it may incur such costs if it invests directly in other types of securities or in unaffiliated funds. Purchases and sales of securities on a stock exchange, including ETF shares, or certain riskless principal transactions placed on NASDAQ are typically effected through brokers who charge a commission for their services. Exchange fees may also apply to transactions effected on an exchange. Purchases and sales of fixed income securities may be transacted with the issuer, the issuer's underwriter, or a dealer. The funds do not usually pay brokerage commissions on purchases and sales of fixed income securities, although the price of the securities generally includes compensation, in the form of a spread or a mark-up or mark-down, which is not disclosed separately. The prices the funds pay to underwriters of newly-issued securities usually include a commission paid by the issuer to the underwriter. Transactions placed through dealers who are serving as primary market makers reflect the spread between the bid and asked prices. The money market securities in which certain of the funds may invest are traded primarily in the over-the-counter market on a net basis and do not normally involve either brokerage commissions or transfer taxes. It is expected that the cost of executing portfolio securities transactions of the funds will primarily consist of dealer spreads and brokerage commissions.

The investment adviser seeks to obtain best execution for each fund's portfolio transactions. The investment adviser considers commission rates along with a number of factors relating to the quality of execution. Considered factors may cover the full range and quality of a broker's service, including, without limitation, value provided, execution capability, commission rate, financial responsibility and responsiveness to the investment adviser. The investment adviser may also consider brokerage and research services provided by the broker. The investment adviser does not take into consideration fund sales when selecting a broker to effect a portfolio transaction; however, the investment adviser may execute through brokers that sell shares of funds advised by the investment adviser.

The investment adviser generally will not enter into soft-dollar arrangements with brokers to obtain third-party research or other services in exchange for brokerage commissions paid by advised accounts. However, the investment adviser does receive various forms of eligible proprietary research that is bundled with brokerage services at no additional cost from certain of the brokers with whom the investment adviser executes equity or fixed income trades. These services or products may include: company financial data and economic data (e.g., unemployment, inflation rates and GDP figures), stock quotes, last sale prices and trading volumes, research reports analyzing the performance of a particular company or stock, access to websites that contain data about various securities markets, narrowly distributed trade magazines or technical journals covering specific industries, products, or issuers, seminars or conferences registration fees which provide substantive content relating to eligible research, discussions with research analysts or meetings with corporate executives which provide a means of obtaining oral advice on securities, markets or particular issuers, short-term custody related to effecting particular transactions and clearance and settlement of those trades, lines between the broker-dealer and order management systems operated by a third party vendor, dedicated lines between the broker-dealer and the investment adviser's order management system, dedicated lines providing direct dial-up service between the investment adviser and the trading desk at the broker-dealer, and message services used to transmit orders to broker-dealers for execution.

The investment adviser does not currently cause a fund to pay a higher commission in return for brokerage or research services or products to obtain research or other products or services. If the investment adviser elected to do so, it would receive a benefit because it would not have to produce or pay for the research, products or services. Consequently, this may create an incentive for the investment adviser to select or recommend a broker-dealer based on its interest in receiving the research or other products or services.

The investment adviser may purchase new issues of securities for the funds in a fixed price offering. In these situations, the seller may be a member of the selling group that will, in addition to selling securities, provide the investment adviser with research services, in accordance with applicable rules and regulations permitting these types of arrangements.

The investment adviser may place orders directly with electronic communications networks or other alternative trading systems. Placing orders with electronic communications networks or other alternative trading systems may enable a fund to trade directly with other institutional holders. At times, this may allow a fund to trade larger blocks than would be possible trading through a single market maker.

In determining when and to what extent to use Schwab or any other affiliated broker-dealer as its broker for executing orders for the funds, the investment adviser follows procedures, adopted by the Board, that are designed to ensure that affiliated brokerage commissions (if relevant) are reasonable and fair in comparison to unaffiliated brokerage commissions for comparable transactions.

In certain market circumstances, the investment adviser may determine that its clients, which include registered investment companies and other advisory clients, are best served by placing one order on behalf of several of them. The investment adviser will not aggregate transactions if it determines that to do so (i) would be unfair or inequitable in the circumstances; (ii) is impractical; or (iii) is otherwise inappropriate in the circumstances. The funds may pay higher brokerage costs or otherwise receive less favorable prices or execution if the investment adviser does not aggregate trades when it has an opportunity to do so.

The investment adviser's aggregation and allocation guidelines are intended to ensure that trade allocations are timely, that no set of trade allocations is accomplished to unfairly advantage or disadvantage particular clients or types of clients and that, over time, client accounts are treated fairly and equitably, even though a specific trade may have the effect of benefiting one account against another when viewed in isolation. In connection with the aggregation of purchase and sale orders for two or more client accounts, the following requirements must be met:

- (1) The investment adviser shall not receive additional compensation or remuneration of any kind as a result of aggregating transactions for clients.
- (2) The investment adviser, for each client, must determine that the purchase or sale of each particular security involved is appropriate for the client and consistent with its investment objectives and its investment guidelines or restrictions.
- (3) Each client that participates in a block trade will participate at the average security price with all transaction costs shared on a pro-rata basis.
- (4) Client account information at the investment adviser must separately reflect the securities that have been bought, sold and held for each client.

The investment adviser portfolio management personnel are responsible for placing orders for fixed income securities transactions with broker-dealers. When orders for the same security for different client accounts are aggregated, they are generally allocated after execution because fixed income transactions are typically conducted in individually negotiated transactions. For money market fund accounts, allocations among similar client accounts are determined with the general purpose of achieving, as nearly as possible, performance characteristic parity among such accounts over time. Similar money market fund accounts furthest from achieving performance characteristic parity typically receive priority in allocations. In addition to performance (gross yield), factors considered may include, but are not limited to: (i) capacity available for a particular name or sector; (ii) cash flow/liquidity; (iii) management of maturities; and (iv) weighted average maturity (or weighted average life). Allocations among dissimilar money market fund accounts are generally *pro rata*, subject to adjustments to accommodate specific investment guidelines and portfolio characteristics of client accounts. Additional factors considered may include, but are not limited to: (i) the factors set forth for similar client accounts; (ii) alternative minimum tax; (iii) issuing state; and (iv) tax exempt versus taxable income status. The investment adviser portfolio managers may give priority to a particular fund in circumstances where it is necessary to meet that fund's investment objective.

Brokerage Commissions

During the last three fiscal years, the funds paid no brokerage commissions.

Regular Broker-Dealers

During the fiscal year, certain of the funds held securities issued by their respective "regular broker-dealers" (as defined in Rule 10b-1 under the 1940 Act), indicated below as of December 31, 2017.

Fund	Regular Broker-Dealer	Value of Holdings
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund	Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	\$864,038,989
	National Australia Bank Ltd	\$684,000,000
	Bank of Nova Scotia	\$404,727,570
	Barclays Capital, Inc.	\$123,000,000
	General Electric Co.	\$ 49,998,028
	BNP Paribas Securities Corp.	\$ 45,950,192

Fund	Regular Broker-Dealer	Value of Holdings
Schwab Investor Money Fund	Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	\$ 15,000,000
	General Electric Co.	\$ 12,999,487
	National Australia Bank Ltd	\$ 11,000,000
	Bank of Nova Scotia	\$ 9,000,000
	BNP Paribas Securities Corp.	\$ 6,995,562
	Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC	\$ 5,000,000
	Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.	\$ 4,000,000
Schwab Retirement Advantage	Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	\$ 7,000,550
Money Fund	Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.	\$ 5,000,000
	Bank of Nova Scotia	\$ 3,000,000
	National Australia Bank Ltd	\$ 2,000,000
	Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC	\$ 2,000,000
	Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.	\$ 1,000,000
Schwab Cash Reserves	Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	\$990,021,052
	National Australia Bank Ltd	\$896,000,000
	Barclays Capital, Inc.	\$719,000,000
	General Electric Co.	\$ 50,997,988
	BNP Paribas Securities Corp.	\$ 29,998,933
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves	National Australia Bank Ltd	\$305,000,000
	Bank of Nova Scotia	\$217,000,000
	Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.	\$142,000,000
	Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC	\$125,000,000
	Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	\$ 98,000,000
	General Electric Co.	\$ 49,998,027
	BNP Paribas Securities Corp.	\$ 29,998,933
Schwab Money Market Fund	National Australia Bank Ltd	\$198,000,000
·	Barclays Capital, Inc.	\$160,000,000
	Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	\$102,000,000
	Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.	\$ 79,000,000
	General Electric Co.	\$ 21,999,132
	BNP Paribas Securities Corp.	\$ 13,999,502
Schwab Government Money Fund	None	N/A
Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	None	N/A
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund	None	N/A
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund	None	N/A

PROXY VOTING

The Board has delegated the responsibility for voting proxies to CSIM. The trustees have adopted CSIM's Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures with respect to proxies voted on behalf of the various Schwab Funds portfolios. A description of CSIM's Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures is included in Appendix – Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures.

The Trust is required to disclose annually a fund's complete proxy voting record on Form N-PX. A fund's proxy voting record for the most recent 12-month period ended June 30th is available by visiting the Schwab Funds' website at **www.schwabfunds.com/schwabfunds_prospectus**. A fund's Form N-PX will also be available on the SEC's website at **www.sec.gov**.

PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS DISCLOSURE

For this section only, the following disclosure relates to The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Annuity Portfolios, Schwab Capital Trust, Schwab Strategic Trust and Laudus Trust (collectively, the Trusts) and each series thereunder (each a fund and collectively, the funds).

The Trusts' Board has approved policies and procedures that govern the timing and circumstances regarding the disclosure of fund portfolio holdings information to shareholders and third parties. These policies and procedures are designed to ensure that disclosure of information regarding the funds' portfolio securities is in the best interests of fund shareholders, and include procedures to address conflicts between the interests of the funds' shareholders, on the one hand, and those of the funds' investment adviser, subadviser (if applicable), principal underwriter or any affiliated person of a fund, its investment adviser, subadviser or principal underwriter, on the other. Pursuant to such procedures, the Board has authorized one of the President, Chief Operating Officer or Chief Financial Officer of the Trusts (in consultation with a fund's subadviser, if applicable) to authorize the release of the funds' portfolio holdings prior to regular public disclosure (as outlined in the prospectus and below) or regular public filings, as necessary, in conformity with the foregoing principles.

The Board exercises on-going oversight of the disclosure of fund portfolio holdings by overseeing the implementation and enforcement of the funds' policies and procedures by the Chief Compliance Officer and by considering reports and recommendations by the Chief Compliance Officer concerning any material compliance matters. The Board will receive periodic updates, at least annually, regarding entities which were authorized to be provided "early disclosure" of the funds' portfolio holdings information and will periodically review any agreements that the Trusts have entered into to selectively disclose portfolio holdings.

Portfolio holdings may be made available on a selective basis to ratings agencies, certain industry organizations, consultants and other qualified financial professionals when the appropriate officer of the Trusts determines such disclosure meets the requirements noted above and serves a legitimate business purpose. Agreements entered into with such entities will describe the permitted use of portfolio holdings and provide that, among other customary confidentiality provisions: (i) the portfolio holdings will be kept confidential; (ii) the person will not trade on the basis of any material non-public information; and (iii) the information will be used only for the purpose described in the agreement.

The funds' service providers including, without limitation, the investment adviser, subadvisers (if applicable), the distributor, the custodian, fund accountant, transfer agent, counsel, auditor, proxy voting service provider, pricing information vendors, trade execution measurement vendors, portfolio management system providers, securities lending agents, publisher, printer and mailing agent may receive disclosure of portfolio holdings information as frequently as daily in connection with the services they perform for the funds. CSIM, any subadviser to a fund as disclosed in the most current prospectus, Glass, Lewis & Co., LLC, State Street and/or Brown Brothers Harriman & Co., as service providers to the funds, are currently receiving this information on a daily basis. Donnelley Financial Solutions, as a service provider to the funds, is currently receiving this information on a quarterly basis. PwC, the Transfer Agent, and the Distributor, as service providers to the funds, receive this information on an as-needed basis. Service providers are subject to a duty of confidentiality with respect to any portfolio holdings information they receive whether imposed by the confidentiality provisions of the service providers' agreements with the Trusts or by the nature of its relationship with the Trusts. Although certain of the service providers are not under formal confidentiality obligations in connection with disclosure of portfolio holdings, a fund will not continue to conduct business with a service provider who the fund believes is misusing the disclosed information.

To the extent that a fund invests in an ETF, the Trusts will, when required by the exemptive orders issued by the SEC to ETF sponsors and the procedures adopted by the Board, promptly notify the ETF in writing of any purchase or acquisition of shares of the ETF that causes the fund to hold (i) 5% or more of such ETF's total outstanding voting securities, and (ii) 10% or more of such ETF's total outstanding voting securities. In addition, CSIM will, upon causing a fund to acquire more than 3% of an ETF's outstanding shares, notify the ETF of the investment.

The funds' policies and procedures prohibit the funds, the funds' investment adviser or any related party from receiving any compensation or other consideration in connection with the disclosure of portfolio holdings information.

Generally, a complete list of a fund's portfolio holdings is published on the fund's website www.schwabfunds.com on the "Prospectuses & Reports" tab under "Portfolio Holdings" generally 60-80 days after a fund's fiscal quarter-end in-line with regulatory filings unless a different timing is outlined in the fund's prospectus.

Specifically for the Schwab ETFs, each Schwab ETF discloses its portfolio holdings and the percentages the holdings represent of the fund's net assets at least monthly on the website and as often as each day the fund is open for business. Portfolio holdings information made available in connection with the process of purchasing or redeeming Creation Units for the Schwab ETFs may be provided to other entities that provided services to the funds in the ordinary course of business after it has been disseminated to the NSCC.

The Schwab Money Funds have an ongoing arrangement to make available information about the funds' portfolio holdings and information derived from the funds' portfolio holdings to iMoneyNet, a rating and ranking organization, which is subject to a confidentiality agreement. Under its arrangement with the funds, iMoneyNet, among other things, receives information concerning the funds' net assets, yields, maturities and portfolio compositions on a weekly basis, subject to a one business day lag.

On the website, the funds also may provide, on a monthly or quarterly basis, information regarding certain attributes of a fund's portfolio, such as a fund's top ten holdings, sector weightings, composition, credit quality and duration and maturity, as applicable. This information is generally updated within 5-25 days after the end of the period. This information on the website is publicly available to all categories of persons.

The funds may disclose non-material information including commentary and aggregate information about the characteristics of a fund in connection with or relating to a fund or its portfolio securities to any person if such disclosure is for a legitimate business purpose, such disclosure does not effectively result in the disclosure of the complete portfolio securities of any fund (which can only be disclosed in accordance with the above requirements), and such information does not constitute material non-public information. Such disclosure does not fall within the portfolio securities disclosure requirements outlined above.

Whether the information constitutes material non-public information will be made on a good faith determination, which involves an assessment of the particular facts and circumstances. In most cases, commentary or analysis would be immaterial and would not convey any advantage to a recipient in making a decision concerning a fund. Commentary and analysis include, but are not limited to, the allocation of a fund's portfolio securities and other investments among various asset classes, sectors, industries and countries, the characteristics of the stock components and other investments of a fund, the attribution of fund returns by asset class, sector, industry and country, and the volatility characteristics of a fund.

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST

Each fund is a series of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, an open-end investment management company organized as a Massachusetts business trust on October 20, 1989.

The funds may hold special meetings of shareholders, which may cause the funds to incur non-routine expenses. These meetings may be called for purposes such as electing trustees, changing fundamental policies and amending management contracts. Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each share owned and may vote by proxy or in person. Proxy materials will be mailed to shareholders prior to any meetings, and will include a voting card and information explaining the matters to be voted upon.

The bylaws of the Trust provide that a majority of shares entitled to vote shall be a quorum for the transaction of business at a shareholders' meeting, except that where any provision of law, or of the Declaration of Trust or of the bylaws permits or requires that (1) holders of any series shall vote as a series, then a majority of the aggregate number of shares of that series entitled to vote shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business by that series, or (2) holders of any class shall vote as a class, then a majority of the aggregate number of shares of that class entitled to vote shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business by that class. Any lesser number shall be sufficient for adjournments. Any adjourned session or sessions may be held, within a reasonable time after the date set for the original meeting, without the necessity of further notice. The Declaration of Trust specifically authorizes the Board to terminate the Trust (or any of its investment portfolios) by notice to the shareholders without shareholder approval.

Under Massachusetts law, shareholders of a Massachusetts business trust could, under certain circumstances, be held personally liable for the Trust's obligations. The Declaration of Trust, however, disclaims shareholder liability for the Trust's acts or obligations and requires that notice of such disclaimer be given in each agreement, obligation or instrument entered into or executed by the Trust or the trustees. In addition, the Declaration of Trust provides for indemnification out of the property of an investment portfolio in which a shareholder owns or owned shares for all losses and expenses of such shareholder or former shareholder if he or she is held personally liable for the obligations of the Trust solely by reason of being or having been a shareholder. Moreover, the Trust will be covered by insurance which the trustees consider adequate to cover foreseeable tort claims. Thus, the risk of a shareholder incurring financial loss on account of shareholder liability is considered remote, because it is limited to circumstances in which a disclaimer is inoperative and the Trust itself is unable to meet its obligations. There is a remote possibility that a fund could become liable for a misstatement in the prospectus or SAI about another fund.

As more fully described in the Declaration of Trust, the trustees may each year, or more frequently, distribute to the shareholders of each series accrued income less accrued expenses and any net realized capital gains less accrued expenses. Distributions of each year's income of each series shall be distributed pro rata to shareholders in proportion to the number of shares of each series held by each of them. Distributions will be paid in cash or shares or a combination thereof as determined by the trustees. Distributions paid in shares will be paid at the net asset value per share as determined in accordance with the bylaws.

Any series of the Trust may reorganize or merge with one or more other series of the Trust or of another investment company. Any such reorganization or merger shall be pursuant to the terms and conditions specified in an agreement and plan of reorganization authorized and approved by the Trustees and entered into by the relevant series in connection therewith. In addition, such reorganization or merger may be authorized by vote of a majority of the Trustees then in office and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, without the approval of shareholders of any series.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION, DELIVERY OF SHAREHOLDER DOCUMENTS AND PRICING OF SHARES

Purchasing and Redeeming Shares of the Funds

The funds are open for business each day, except for days on which the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) is closed and the following federal holiday observances: Columbus Day and Veterans Day. The NYSE's trading session is normally conducted from 9:30 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. Eastern time, Monday through Friday, although some days, such as in advance of and following holidays, the NYSE's trading sessions close early. The NYSE typically observes the following holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. Although it is expected that the same holidays will be observed in the future, the NYSE may modify its holiday schedule or hours of operation at any time. Orders that are received in good order by a fund's transfer agent no later than the time specified by the Trust will be executed that day at the fund's share price calculated that day. On any day that the NYSE closes early, the funds reserve the right to advance the time by which purchase, redemption and exchange orders must be received by the funds in order to be executed at that day's share price. If the NYSE is closed due to weather or other extenuating circumstances on a day it would typically be open for business, or the NYSE has an unscheduled early closing on a day it has opened for business, the funds reserve the right to treat such day as a business day and accept purchase, exchange and redemption orders and calculate their share prices as of the normally scheduled close of regular trading on the NYSE for that day.

The funds have authorized one or more financial intermediaries, including Schwab, to accept on their behalf purchase, exchange and redemption orders. Such financial intermediaries have also been authorized to designate other intermediaries to accept purchase, exchange and redemption orders on the funds' behalf. The funds will be deemed to have received a purchase, exchange or redemption order when an authorized intermediary or, if applicable, an intermediary's authorized designee, receives such order. Such orders will be priced at the respective fund's net asset value per share next determined after such orders are received by an authorized intermediary or the intermediary's authorized designee.

As long as the funds or Schwab follow reasonable procedures to confirm that an investor's telephone or internet order is genuine, they will not be liable for any losses the investor may experience due to unauthorized or fraudulent instructions. These procedures may include requiring a form of personal identification or other confirmation before acting upon any telephone or internet order, providing written confirmation of telephone or internet orders and tape recording all telephone orders.

Share certificates will not be issued in order to avoid additional administrative costs, however, share ownership records are maintained by the funds' transfer agent.

The Trust's Declaration of Trust provides that shares may be automatically redeemed if held by a shareholder in an amount less than the minimum required by each fund or share class. Each fund's minimum initial and additional investments and minimum balance requirements, if any, are set forth in the prospectus. The minimums may be changed without prior notice.

Each fund has made an election with the SEC to pay in cash all redemptions requested by any shareholder of record limited in amount during any 90-day period to the lesser of \$250,000 or 1% of its net assets at the beginning of such period. This election is irrevocable without the SEC's prior approval. Redemption requests in excess of these limits may be paid, in whole or in part, in investment securities or in cash, as the Board may deem advisable. Payment will be made wholly in cash unless the Board believes that economic or market conditions exist that would make such payment a detriment to the best interests of a fund. If redemption proceeds are paid in investment securities, such securities will be valued as set forth in "Pricing of Shares." A redeeming shareholder would normally incur transaction costs if he or she were to convert the securities to cash.

Each of the Schwab Money Market Fund and Schwab Cash Reserves offer one share class, Sweep Shares. Each of Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund, Schwab Investor Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund offer one share class. Schwab Government Money Fund is composed of two classes of shares, Sweep Shares and Investor Shares. Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves is composed of two classes of shares, Sweep Shares and Premier Sweep Shares. Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund is composed of two share classes, Ultra Shares and Investor Shares. Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund™ and Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund offer two share classes, Sweep Shares and Investor Shares. Each fund's share classes share a common investment portfolio and objective but have different minimum investment requirements and different expenses. The Sweep Shares and Premier Sweep Shares are designed to provide convenience through automatic investment of uninvested cash balances and automatic redemptions for transactions in your Schwab account. Schwab, in its discretion, may, at any time, determine to temporarily or permanently discontinue offering Sweep Shares or Premier Sweep Shares of certain funds to new or existing Schwab customers. In addition, Schwab has informed each fund that offers Sweep Shares or Premier Sweep Shares that it intends to seek authorization from its clients to redeem their Sweep Shares or Premier Sweep Shares holdings in a fund in the event the fund ceases to maintain a stable net asset value per share, which may result in a liquidation of the fund. The Ultra and Investor Shares do not have a sweep feature.

Liquidity Fees and Gates

Pursuant to Rule 2a-7 under the 1940 Act, the Board is permitted to impose a liquidity fee on redemptions from the funds (up to 2%) or a redemption gate to temporarily restrict redemptions from the funds up to 10 business days (in any 90-day period) in the event that a fund's

"weekly liquid assets" fall below certain designated thresholds. Liquidity fees would reduce the amount you receive upon redemption of your shares. A redemption gate would temporarily prevent you from redeeming your shares in the funds.

Weekly liquid assets generally include:

- · cash;
- · direct obligations of the U.S. government;
- certain other U.S. government or agency securities;
- securities that will mature or are subject to a demand feature that is exercisable and payable within five business days; and
- amounts receivable and due unconditionally within five business days on pending sales of portfolio securities.

If a fund's weekly liquid assets fall below 30% of the fund's total assets, the Board is permitted, but not required, to: (i) impose a liquidity fee of no more than 2% of the amount redeemed; and/or (ii) impose a redemption gate to temporarily suspend the right of redemption. If a fund's weekly liquid assets fall below 10% of the fund's total assets, the fund will impose, generally as of the beginning of the next business day, a liquidity fee of 1% of the amount redeemed unless the Board determines that such a fee would not be in the best interests of the fund or determines that a lower or higher fee (subject to the 2% limit) would be in the best interests of the fund.

In the event a fund imposes a redemption gate, the fund, your financial advisor, and your broker will not accept redemption requests until the fund provides notice that the gate has been lifted. Redemption requests submitted while a redemption gate is imposed will be cancelled without further notice. If shareholders still wish to redeem their shares after a redemption gate has been lifted, they will need to submit a new request.

Liquidity fees and redemption gates are most likely to be imposed during times of extraordinary market stress and will generally be imposed by the Board to restore a fund's market-based NAV per share. Additionally, the Board generally expects that a liquidity fee or redemption gate would be imposed, if at all, after the fund has notified financial intermediaries and shareholders that a liquidity fee or redemption gate will be imposed (generally, as of the beginning of the next business day following the announcement that the fund will impose a liquidity fee or redemption gate). The imposition and termination of a liquidity fee or a redemption gate will be reported by the fund to the SEC on Form N-CR. In addition, the fund will make such announcements through a supplement to the prospectus and may make such announcements through a press release or by other means.

The Board may, in its discretion, terminate a liquidity fee or redemption gate at any time if the Board believes termination to be in the best interest of a fund and its shareholders. Moreover, liquidity fees and redemption gates will automatically terminate at the beginning of the next business day once the fund's weekly liquid assets reach at least 30% of its total assets. Redemption gates may only last up to 10 business days in any 90-day period.

As government money market funds, the Schwab Government Money Fund, Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund, Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund are not required to impose a liquidity fee and/or a redemption gate on fund redemptions. The Board has determined not to subject the Schwab Government Money Fund, Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund, Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund and Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund to a liquidity fee and/or a redemption gate on fund redemptions. Please note that the Board has reserved its ability to change this determination with respect to liquidity fees and/or redemption gates, but only after providing appropriate prior notice to shareholders.

Exchanging Shares of the Funds

Shares of any Schwab Fund, including any class of shares, may be sold and shares of any other Schwab Fund or class purchased, provided the minimum investment and any other requirements of the fund or class purchased are satisfied, including any investor eligibility requirements. Without limiting this privilege, "an exchange order," which is a simultaneous order to sell shares of one fund or class and automatically invest the proceeds in another fund or class, may not be executed between shares of Sweep Investments and shares of non-Sweep Investments. Shares of Sweep Investments may be bought and sold automatically pursuant to the terms and conditions of your Schwab account agreement. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, there are no exchange privileges for Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund – Ultra Shares purchased directly from the fund. In addition, different exchange policies may apply to Schwab Funds that are bought and sold through third-party intermediaries and the exchange privilege between Schwab funds may not be available through third-party intermediaries.

The funds and Schwab reserve certain rights with regard to exchanging shares of the funds. These rights include the right to: (i) refuse any purchase or exchange order that may negatively impact a fund's operations; (ii) refuse orders that appear to be associated with short-term trading activities; and (iii) materially modify or terminate the exchange privilege upon 60 days' written notice to shareholders.

Pricing of Shares

Each fund values its portfolio instruments at amortized cost, which means they are valued at their acquisition cost, as adjusted for amortization of premium or discount, rather than at current market value. Calculations are made to compare the value of a fund's investments at amortized cost with market values. Such values are required to be determined in one of two ways: securities for which market quotations are readily available are required to be valued at current market value; and securities for which market quotations are not readily available are required to

be valued at fair value using procedures approved by the Board. If the NYSE is closed due to weather or other extenuating circumstances on a day it would typically be open for business, or the NYSE has an unscheduled early closing on a day it has opened for business, the funds reserve the right to treat such day as a business day and accept purchase and redemption orders and calculate their share price as of the normally scheduled close of regular trading on the NYSE for that day. The funds use approved pricing services to provide values for their portfolio securities. Securities may be fair valued pursuant to procedures approved by the funds' Board when approved pricing services do not provide a value for a security, a furnished price appears manifestly incorrect or events occur prior to the close of the NYSE that materially affect the furnished price. The Board regularly reviews fair value determinations made by the funds pursuant to the procedures.

The amortized cost method of valuation seeks to maintain a stable net asset value per share (NAV) of \$1.00, even where there are fluctuations in interest rates that affect the value of portfolio instruments. Accordingly, this method of valuation can in certain circumstances lead to a dilution of a shareholder's interest.

If a deviation of 1/2 of 1% or more between a fund's NAV calculated using market values and a fund's \$1.00 NAV calculated using amortized cost were to occur or was expected to occur, or if there were any other deviation that the Board believed would result in a material dilution or other unfair results to shareholders or purchasers, the Board would promptly consider what action, if any, should be initiated, including, without limitation, selling portfolio instruments prior to their maturity to realize capital gains/losses or to shorten average portfolio maturity; redeeming shares in kind; establishing a NAV by using available market quotations or equivalents; or reducing the number of shares outstanding on a pro rata basis through reverse stock splits or the assessment of negative dividends to the extent permissible by applicable law and the Trust's organizational documents. The Board may also consider taking these actions during a negative interest rate environment in an effort to maintain a fund's \$1.00 NAV to the extent permissible by applicable law and the Trust's organizational documents. In addition, if a fund's NAV calculated using market values declined, or was expected to decline, below a fund's \$1.00 NAV calculated using amortized cost, the Board might temporarily reduce or suspend dividend payments in an effort to maintain a fund's \$1.00 NAV. As a result of such reduction or suspension of dividends or other action by the Board, an investor would receive less income during a given period than if such a reduction or suspension had not taken place. Such action could result in investors receiving no dividend for the period during which they hold their shares and receiving, upon redemption, a price per share lower than that which they paid. On the other hand, if a fund's NAV calculated using market values were to increase, or were anticipated to increase above a fund's \$1.00 NAV calculated using amortized cost, the Board might supplement dividends in an effort to maintain a fund's \$1.00 NAV. The Board may

Delivery of Shareholder Documents

Typically once a year, an updated prospectus will be mailed to shareholders describing each fund's investment strategies, risks and shareholder policies. Twice a year, financial reports will be mailed to shareholders describing each fund's performance and investment holdings. In order to eliminate duplicate mailings of shareholder documents, each household may receive one copy of these documents, under certain conditions. This practice is commonly called "householding." If you want to receive multiple copies, you may write or call your fund at the address or telephone number on the front of this SAI. Your instructions will be effective within 30 days of receipt by a fund or other date as communicated by the financial intermediary.

TAXATION

This discussion of federal income tax consequences is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code) and the regulations issued thereunder as in effect on the date of this SAI. New legislation, as well as administrative changes or court decisions, may significantly change the conclusions expressed herein, and may have a retroactive effect with respect to the transactions contemplated herein.

Federal Tax Information for the Funds

It is each fund's policy to qualify for taxation as a "regulated investment company" (RIC) by meeting the requirements of Subchapter M of the Code. By qualifying as a RIC, each fund expects to eliminate or reduce to a nominal amount the federal income tax to which it is subject. If a fund does not qualify as a RIC under the Code, it will be subject to federal income tax on its net investment income and any net realized capital gains.

Each fund is treated as a separate entity for federal income tax purposes and is not combined with the Trust's other funds. Each fund intends to qualify as a RIC so that it will be relieved of federal income tax on that part of its income that is distributed to shareholders. In order to qualify for treatment as a RIC, a fund must, among other requirements, distribute annually to its shareholders an amount at least equal to the sum of 90% of its investment company taxable income (generally, net investment income plus the excess, if any, of net short-term capital gain over net long-term capital losses) and 90% of its net tax-exempt income. Among these requirements are the following: (i) at least 90% of a fund's gross income each taxable year must be derived from dividends, interest, payments with respect to securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, or other income derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock or securities or currencies and net income derived from an interest in a qualified publicly traded partnership; (ii) at the close of each quarter of a fund's taxable year, at least 50% of the value of its total assets must be represented by cash and cash items, U.S. government securities, securities of other RICs and other securities, with such other securities limited, in respect of any one issuer, to an amount that does not exceed 5% of the value of a fund's assets and that does not represent more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer; and (iii) at the close of each quarter of a fund's taxable year, not more than 25% of the value of its assets may be invested in securities (other than U.S. government

securities or the securities of other RICs) of any one issuer or of two or more issuers and which are engaged in the same, similar, or related trades or businesses if the fund owns at least 20% of the voting power of such issuers, or the securities of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships.

The Code imposes a non-deductible excise tax on RICs that do not distribute in a calendar year (regardless of whether they otherwise have a non-calendar taxable year) an amount equal to 98% of their "ordinary income" (as defined in the Code) for the calendar year plus 98.2% of their net capital gain for the one-year period ending on October 31 of such calendar year, plus any undistributed amounts from prior years. The non-deductible excise tax is equal to 4% of the deficiency. For the foregoing purposes, a fund is treated as having distributed any amount on which it is subject to income tax for any taxable year ending in such calendar year. A fund may in certain circumstances be required to liquidate fund investments in order to make sufficient distributions to avoid federal excise tax liability at a time when the investment adviser might not otherwise have chosen to do so, and liquidation of investments in such circumstances may affect the ability of a fund to satisfy the requirements for qualification as a RIC.

With respect to investments in zero coupon or other securities which are sold at original issue discount and may not make periodic cash interest payments, a fund will be required to include as part of its current income the imputed interest on such obligations even though the fund has not received any corresponding interest payments on such obligations during that period. Because each fund distributes all of its net investment income to its shareholders, a fund may have to sell fund securities to distribute such imputed income which may occur at a time when the adviser would not have chosen to sell such securities and which may result in taxable gain or loss.

A liquidity fee imposed by a fund will reduce the amount you will receive upon the redemption of your shares, and will decrease the amount of any capital gain or increase the amount of any capital loss you will recognize from such redemption. There is some degree of uncertainty with respect to the tax treatment of liquidity fees received by money market funds, and such tax treatment may be the subject of future guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service. If the fund receives liquidity fees, it will consider the appropriate tax treatment of such fees to the fund at such time.

Federal Income Tax Information for Shareholders

The discussion of federal income taxation presented below supplements the discussion in the funds' prospectuses and only summarizes some of the important federal tax considerations generally affecting shareholders of the funds. Accordingly, prospective investors (particularly those not residing or domiciled in the United States) should consult their own tax advisors regarding the consequences of investing in a fund.

On each business day that the NAV of a fund is determined, such fund's net investment income will be declared as of the close of the fund (normally 4:00 p.m. Eastern time) as a daily dividend to shareholders of record. Your daily dividend is calculated each business day by applying the daily dividend rate by the number of shares owned, and is rounded to the nearest penny. The daily dividend is accrued each business day, and the sum of the daily dividends is paid monthly. For each fund, dividends will normally be reinvested monthly in shares of the fund at the NAV on the 15th day of each month, if a business day, otherwise on the next business day, except in December when dividends are reinvested on the last business day of December. If cash payment is requested, checks will normally be mailed on the business day following the reinvestment date. Each fund will pay shareholders, who redeem all of their shares, all dividends accrued to the time of the redemption within seven days.

Each fund calculates its dividends based on its daily net investment income. For this purpose, the net investment income of a fund generally consists of: (1) accrued interest income, plus or minus amortized discount or premium, minus (2) accrued expenses allocated to that fund. If a fund realizes any capital gains, they will be distributed at least once during the year as determined by the Board. Any realized capital losses, to the extent not offset by realized capital gains, will be carried forward.

Any dividends declared by a fund in October, November or December and paid the following January are treated, for tax purposes, as if they were received by shareholders on December 31 of the year in which they were declared. A fund may adjust its schedule for the reinvestment of distributions for the month of December to assist in complying with the reporting and minimum distribution requirements of the Code.

The funds do not expect to realize any long-term capital gains. However, long-term capital gains distributions are taxable as long-term capital gains, regardless of how long you have held your shares. If you receive a long-term capital gains distribution with respect to fund shares held for six months or less, any loss on the sale or exchange of those shares shall, to the extent of the long-term capital gains distribution, be treated as a long-term capital loss. Distributions by a fund also may be subject to state, local and foreign taxes and their treatment under applicable tax laws may differ from the federal income tax treatment. Note that most states grant tax-exempt status to distributions paid to shareholders from earnings received on direct investment on U.S. government securities, subject to certain restrictions. For example, some states do not extend this exemption to distributions paid to shareholders from earnings on certain U.S. government agencies, such as Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.

Under the Regulated Investment Company Modernization Act of 2010, net capital losses incurred by a fund in taxable years beginning after the effective enactment date, December 22, 2010, will not expire. However, such losses must be utilized prior to the losses incurred in the years preceding enactment. As a result of this ordering rule, pre-enactment capital loss carryforwards may be more likely to expire unused. In addition, post-enactment capital losses that are carried forward will retain their character as either short-term or long-term losses rather than short-term as under previous law.

An additional 3.8% Medicare tax is imposed on certain net investment income (including ordinary dividends and capital gains distributions received from a fund and net gains from redemptions or other taxable dispositions of fund shares) of U.S. individuals, estates and trusts to the

extent that such person's "modified adjusted gross income" (in the case of an individual) or "adjusted gross income" (in the case of an estate or trust) exceeds a threshold amount.

A fund may engage in techniques that may alter the timing and character of its income. A fund may be restricted in its use of these techniques by rules relating to its qualification as a regulated investment company.

Because the taxable portion of a fund's investment income consists primarily of interest, none of its dividends are expected to qualify under the Code for the dividends received deduction for corporations or as qualified dividend income eligible for reduced tax rates for individuals.

Although not generally expected, the redemption or exchange of the shares of a fund may result in capital gain or loss to the shareholders. Generally, unless a shareholder chooses to adopt a simplified "NAV method" of accounting (described below), if a shareholder holds the shares as a capital asset, any gain or loss will be long-term gain or loss if the shares have been held for more than one year. Capital gains of corporate shareholders are subject to regular corporate tax rates. For non-corporate taxpayers, gain on the sales of shares held for more than one year will generally be taxed at the rate applicable to long-term capital gains, while gain on the sale of shares held for one year or less will generally be taxed at ordinary income rates. However, if a shareholder elects to adopt the simplified "NAV method" of accounting, rather than compute gain or loss on every taxable sale or other disposition of shares of a fund as described above, a shareholder would determine gain or loss based on the change in the aggregate value of fund shares during a computation period (such as the shareholder's taxable year), reduced by the shareholder's net investment (i.e., purchases minus sales) in those fund shares during the computation period. Under the simplified "NAV method," any resulting capital gain or loss would be reportable on a net basis and would generally be treated as a short-term capital gain or loss.

Each fund will be required in certain cases to withhold at the applicable withholding rate and remit to the U.S. Treasury, the withheld amount of taxable dividends paid to any shareholder who (1) fails to provide a correct taxpayer identification number certified under penalty of perjury; (2) is subject to withholding by the Internal Revenue Service for failure to properly report all payments of interest or dividends; (3) fails to provide a certified statement that he or she is not subject to "backup withholding;" or (4) fails to provide a certified statement that he or she is a U.S. person (including a U.S. resident alien). Backup withholding is not an additional tax and any amounts withheld may be credited against the shareholder's ultimate U.S. tax liability.

Foreign shareholders (i.e., nonresident alien individuals and foreign corporations, partnerships, trusts and estates) are generally subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30% (or a lower tax treaty rate) on taxable distributions derived from net investment income and short-term capital gains; provided, however, that U.S. source interest related dividends and short-term capital gain dividends generally are not subject to U.S. withholding tax if a fund elects to make reports with respect to such dividends. Distributions to foreign shareholders of such short-term capital gain dividends and of long-term capital gains, and any gains from the sale or other disposition of shares of the funds, generally are not subject to U.S. taxation, unless the recipient is an individual who either (1) meets the Code's definition of "resident alien" or (2) who is physically present in the U.S. for 183 days or more per year as determined under certain IRS rules. Different tax consequences may result if the foreign shareholder is engaged in a trade or business within the United States. In addition, the tax consequences to a foreign shareholder entitled to claim the benefits of a tax treaty may be different than those described above. Foreign shareholders may also be subject to U.S. estate taxes with respect to shares in a fund.

The funds are required to withhold U.S. tax (at a 30% rate) on payments of taxable dividends and (effective January 1, 2019) redemption proceeds and certain capital gain dividends made to certain non-U.S. entities that fail to comply (or be deemed compliant) with extensive reporting and withholding requirements designed to inform the U.S. Department of the Treasury of U.S.-owned foreign investment accounts. Shareholders may be requested to provide additional information to the funds to enable the funds to determine whether withholding is required.

APPENDIX - RATINGS OF INVESTMENT SECURITIES

From time to time, a fund may report the percentage of its assets that fall into the rating categories set forth below, as defined by the ratings agencies.

MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE

Global Long-Term Rating Scale

Obligations rated Aaa are judged to be of the highest quality, subject to the lowest level of credit risk. Aaa:

Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk. Aa: A: Obligations rated A are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

Obligations rated Baa are judged to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain Baa:

speculative characteristics.

Ba: Obligations rated Ba are judged to be speculative and are subject to substantial credit risk.

B: Obligations rated B are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

Caa: Obligations rated Caa are judged to be speculative of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.

Ca: Obligations rated Ca are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal

and interest.

C: Obligations rated C are the lowest rated and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

Global Short-Term Rating Scale

P-1: Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations.

P-2: Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations.

P-3: Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 have an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.

STANDARD & POOR'S FINANCIAL SERVICES LLC

Long-Term Issue Credit Ratings

AAA: An obligation rated 'AAA' has the highest rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial

commitment on the obligation is extremely strong.

AA: An obligation rated 'AA' differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its

financial commitment on the obligation is very strong.

An obligation rated 'A' is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic A:

conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the

obligation is still strong.

An obligation rated 'BBB' exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing BBB:

circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

BB: An obligation rated 'BB' is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to the obligor's inadequate

capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

B: An obligation rated 'B' is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated 'BB', but the obligor currently has the capacity

to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the

obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CCC: An obligation rated 'CCC' is currently vulnerable to nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. In the event of adverse business,

financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the

obligation.

CC: An obligation rated 'CC' is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment. The 'CC' rating is used when a default has not yet

occurred, but S&P Global Ratings expects default to be a virtual certainty, regardless of the anticipated time to default.

C: An obligation rated 'C' is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, and the obligation is expected to have lower relative

seniority or lower ultimate recovery compared to obligations that are rated higher.

D: An obligation rated 'D' is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the 'D' rating

category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such

payments will be made within five business days in the absence of a stated grace period or within the earlier of the stated grace period or 30 calendar days. The 'D' rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. An obligation's rating is lowered to 'D' if it is subject to a distressed exchange offer.

Short-Term Issue Credit Ratings

- A-1: A short-term obligation rated 'A-1' is rated in the highest category by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.
- A-2: A short-term obligation rated 'A-2' is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is satisfactory.
- A-3: A short-term obligation rated 'A-3' exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

FITCH, INC.

Long-Term Ratings Scales

AAA: 'AAA' ratings denote the lowest expectation of default risk. They are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

AA: 'AA' ratings denote expectations of very low default risk. They indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

A: 'A' ratings denote expectations of low default risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.

BBB: 'BBB' ratings indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

BB: 'BB' ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial flexibility exists which supports the servicing of financial commitments.

B: 'B' ratings indicate that material default risk is present, but a limited margin of safety remains. Financial commitments are currently being met; however, capacity for continued payment is vulnerable to deterioration in the business and economic environment.

CCC: Default is a real possibility.

RD:

CC: Default of some kind appears probable.

C: Default is imminent or inevitable, or the issuer is in standstill. Conditions that are indicative of a 'C' category rating for an issuer include:

- a. the issuer has entered into a grace or cure period following non-payment of a material financial obligation;
- b. the issuer has entered into a temporary negotiated waiver or standstill agreement following a payment default on a material financial obligation; or
- c. Fitch Ratings otherwise believes a condition of 'RD' or 'D' to be imminent or inevitable, including through the formal announcement of a distressed debt exchange.

'RD' ratings indicate an issuer that in Fitch Ratings' opinion has experienced an uncured payment default on a bond, loan or other material financial obligation but which has not entered into bankruptcy filings, administration, receivership, liquidation or other formal winding-up procedure, and which has not otherwise ceased operating. This would include:

- a. the selective payment default on a specific class or currency of debt;
- b. the uncured expiry of any applicable grace period, cure period or default forbearance period following a payment default on a bank loan, capital markets security or other material financial obligation;
- c. the extension of multiple waivers or forbearance periods upon a payment default on one or more material financial obligations, either in series or in parallel; or
- d. execution of a distressed debt exchange on one or more material financial obligations.

D: 'D' ratings indicate an issuer that in Fitch Ratings' opinion has entered into bankruptcy filings, administration, receivership, liquidation or other formal winding-up procedure, or which has otherwise ceased business.

Short-Term Ratings

F1: Indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.

F2: Good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.

F3: The intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate.

DBRS

Long Term Obligations Scale

AAA: Highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is exceptionally high and unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.

AA: Superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered high. Credit quality differs from AAA only to a small degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.

A: Good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is substantial, but of lesser credit quality than AA. May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.

BBB: Adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.

BB: Speculative, non-investment grade credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is uncertain. Vulnerable to future events.

B: Highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet financial obligations.

CCC/CC/C: Very highly speculative credit quality. In danger of defaulting on financial obligations. There is little difference between these three categories, although CC and C ratings are normally applied to obligations that are seen as highly likely to default, or subordinated to obligations rated in the CCC to B range. Obligations in respect of which default has not technically taken place but is considered inevitable may be rated in the C category.

D: When the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods, a downgrade to D may occur. DBRS may also use SD (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange". See Default Definition for more information.

Commercial Paper and Short-Term Debt Rating Scale

R-1 (high): Highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is exceptionally high. Unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.

R-1 (middle): Superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is very high. Differs from R-1 (high) by a relatively modest degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.

R-1 (low): Good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is substantial. Overall strength is not as favorable as higher rating categories. May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.

R-2 (high): Upper end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.

R-2 (middle): Adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events or may be exposed to other factors that could reduce credit quality.

R-2 (low): Lower end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events. A number of challenges are present that could affect the issuer's ability to meet such obligations.

R-3: Lowest end of adequate credit quality. There is a capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due. May be vulnerable to future events and the certainty of meeting such obligations could be impacted by a variety of developments.

APPENDIX - PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES

The table below lists persons or entities that owned, of record or beneficially, 5% or more of the outstanding voting securities of any class of the listed funds, as of March 30, 2018.

Fund	Name and Address	Percentage of Ownership
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund Ultra Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Value Advantage Money Fund Investor Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Retirement Advantage Money Fund	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
	Charles Schwab Bank Omnibus Account FBO Same Day Exchange FSI2 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105	82.61% ¹
Schwab Investor Money Fund	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
	Charles Schwab Bank Omnibus Account FBO Same Day Exchange FSI2 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105	17.59% ¹
Schwab Money Market Fund	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Government Money Fund Sweep Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Government Money Fund Investor Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
	Charles Schwab Bank Omnibus Account Enhanced Revenue SDE 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105	13.95% ¹
	Premier Trust Inc. Ttee Golden Cosmopolitan Trust U/A DTD 09/26/2017 4465 S Jones Blvd Las Vegas, NV 89103	6.34% ¹

Fund	Name and Address	Percentage of Ownership
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund Sweep Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
	Schwab Charitable Fund 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105	6.43% ¹
Schwab U.S. Treasury Money Fund Investor Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Cash Reserves	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves Sweep Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Advisor Cash Reserves Premier Sweep Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund Sweep Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
	Kagle Investments LP A Partnership 2965 Woodside Road Woodside, CA 94062	5.41% ¹
Schwab Treasury Obligations Money Fund Investor Shares	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	100.00%
Schwab Retirement Government Money Fund	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. FBO Customers ATTN SchwabFunds Team N 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	42.28%
	Kansas Postsecondary Education Savings Program Attn: SSB&T Custodian Fund 693 4500 Main Street Kansas City, MO 64111	10.55%
	Kansas Postsecondary Education Savings Program Attn: SSB&T Custodian Fund 699 4500 Main Street Kansas City, MO 64111	10.35%
	Charles Schwab Bank Omnibus Account Enhanced Revenue SDE 211 Main St. San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	42.02% ¹

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ $\,$ These shares are held within the Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. account listed elsewhere in the table.

Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc.
The Charles Schwab Family of Funds
Schwab Investments
Schwab Capital Trust
Schwab Annuity Portfolios
Laudus Trust
Schwab Strategic Trust

PROXY VOTING POLICY AND PROCEDURES AS OF MARCH, 2018

I. INTRODUCTION

Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. ("CSIM"), as an investment adviser, is generally responsible for voting proxies with respect to the securities held in accounts of investment companies and other clients for which it provides discretionary investment management services. CSIM's Proxy Committee exercises and documents CSIM's responsibility with regard to voting of client proxies (the "Proxy Committee"). The Proxy Committee is composed of CSIM representatives, including representatives from the Fund Administration, Portfolio Management, and Investment Risk and Oversight departments, with input from other relevant departments. The Proxy Committee reviews these policies periodically. The policies stated in these Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures (the "Proxy Policies") pertain to all of CSIM's clients.

The Boards of Trustees (the "Board") of The Charles Schwab Family of Funds, Schwab Investments, Schwab Capital Trust, and Schwab Annuity Portfolios ("Schwab Funds"), Laudus Trust ("Laudus Funds") and Schwab Strategic Trust ("Schwab ETFs"; collectively with the Schwab Funds and Laudus Funds, the "Funds") have delegated the responsibility for voting proxies to CSIM through their respective investment advisory agreements. The Board has adopted these Proxy Policies with respect to proxies voted on behalf of the various series of the Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds, and Schwab ETFs. CSIM will present amendments to the Board for approval. However, there may be circumstances where the Proxy Committee deems it advisable to amend these Proxy Policies between regular Schwab Funds, Laudus Funds and Schwab ETFs Board meetings. In such cases, the Board will be asked to ratify any changes at its next regular meeting.

To assist CSIM in its responsibility for voting proxies and the overall proxy voting process, CSIM has retained Glass, Lewis & Co., LLC ("Glass Lewis") as an expert in the proxy voting and corporate governance area. The services provided by Glass Lewis include in-depth research, global issuer analysis, and voting recommendations as well as vote execution, reporting and record keeping. CSIM has also retained Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. to conduct research on certain topics and may retain additional experts in the proxy voting and corporate governance area in the future.

The Proxy Committee has the ultimate responsibility for making the determination of how to vote the shares to seek to maximize the value of that particular holding.

II. PHILOSOPHY

Just as the investors in CSIM's equity funds generally have a long-term investment horizon, CSIM takes a long-term, measured approach to investor stewardship. CSIM strives to promote long-term shareholder value through the consistent application of its guiding principles as it engages with companies through proxy voting. CSIM believes that directors, as shareholder-elected representatives, are best positioned to oversee the management of their companies. Consequently, CSIM generally supports a board of directors' and management's recommendations. However, CSIM may vote differently if it has concerns about a board's accountability or how a board manages conflicts of interest.

CSIM invests on behalf of its clients in companies domiciled all over the world. Since corporate governance standards and best practices differ by country and jurisdiction, the market context is taken into account in the analysis of proposals. Furthermore, there are instances where CSIM may determine that voting is not in the best interests of its clients (typically due to costs or to trading restrictions) and will refrain from submitting votes.

III. PROXY VOTING GUIDELINES

The Proxy Committee receives and reviews Glass Lewis' proxy voting policies and procedures ("Glass Lewis' Proxy Policies") and evaluates them in light of the long-term best interests of shareholders. CSIM generally utilizes Glass Lewis' Proxy Policies (which are posted on the Funds' website) except in instances where CSIM believes that Glass Lewis' Proxy Policies do not align with CSIM's proxy voting philosophy. CSIM's proxy voting philosophy is to generally support a board of directors' and management's recommendations unless CSIM has concerns about a board's accountability or how a board manages conflicts of interest.

The following is a summary of key guidelines which are grouped according to types of proposals usually presented to shareholders in proxy statements.

A. DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

i. Directors

As a starting point, CSIM expects the board to be composed of a majority of independent directors and to be responsive to shareholders. CSIM also expects directors that serve on a company's nominating, compensation or audit committee to be independent.

Factors that may result in a vote against one or more directors:

- The board is not majority independent
- · Non-independent directors serve on the nominating, compensation or audit committees
- Director recently failed to attend at least 75% of meetings or serves on an excessive number of publically traded company boards
- Directors approved executive compensation schemes that appear misaligned with shareholders' interests
- Director recently acted in a manner inconsistent with these Proxy Policies or failed to be responsive to concerns of a majority of shareholders

ii. Auditors

CSIM typically supports the ratification of auditors unless CSIM believes that the auditors' independence may have been compromised.

Factors that may result in a vote against the ratification of auditors:

- Audit-related fees are less than half of the total fees paid by the company to the audit firm
- A recent material restatement of annual financial statements

B. BOARD MATTERS

i. Classified Boards

CSIM generally defers to management's recommendation for classified board proposals unless CSIM has particular concerns regarding the board's accountability or responsiveness to shareholders.

Factors that may result in a vote supporting a shareholder proposal to de-classify a board:

- The company did not implement a shareholder proposal that was passed by shareholders at two previous shareholder meetings
- The company nominated directors for election that did not receive a majority of shareholder support at the previous shareholder meeting
- The company had material financial statement restatements
- The company's board adopted a shareholder rights plan (also known as a "Poison Pill") during the past year and did not submit it to shareholders for approval

ii. Majority Voting

CSIM generally supports majority voting proposals when they call for plurality voting standards in contested elections.

iii. Cumulative Voting

CSIM typically supports the concept of voting rights being proportional to shareholders' economic stake in the company. Therefore, CSIM will generally not support cumulative voting proposals unless the company has a controlling shareholder or shareholder group and has plurality voting standards.

iv. Proxy Access

CSIM typically does not support proxy access proposals unless CSIM has particular concerns regarding the board's accountability or responsiveness to shareholders.

Factors that may result in a vote supporting proxy access:

- The company did not implement a shareholder proposal that was passed by shareholders at two previous shareholder meetings
- The company nominated directors for election that did not receive a majority of shareholder support at the previous shareholder meeting
- The company had material financial statement restatements
- The company's board adopted a Poison Pill during the past year and did not submit it to shareholders for approval

v. Independent Chair

CSIM believes that the board is typically best positioned to determine its leadership structure. Therefore, CSIM will typically not support proposals requiring an independent chair unless CSIM has concerns regarding the board's accountability or responsiveness to shareholders.

Factors that may result in a vote supporting a shareholder proposal requiring an independent chair:

- The company did not implement a shareholder proposal that was passed by shareholders at two previous shareholder meetings
- The company nominated directors for election that did not receive a majority of shareholder support at the previous shareholder meeting
- The company had material financial statement restatements
- The company's board adopted a Poison Pill during the past year and did not submit it to shareholders for approval

C. COMPENSATION

i. Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation and Frequency

CSIM generally supports advisory votes on executive compensation (which are proposed by management and are known as "Say-On-Pay") when the compensation scheme appears aligned with shareholder economic interests and lacks problematic features.

Factors that may result in a vote against Say-On-Pay:

- Executive compensation is out of line with industry peers considering the company's performance over time
- Executive compensation plan includes significant guaranteed bonuses or has a low amount of compensation at risk
- Executive compensation plan offers excessive perguisites, tax-gross up provisions, or golden parachutes

CSIM typically supports annual advisory votes on executive compensation.

ii. Equity Compensation Plans

CSIM generally supports stock-based compensation plans when they do not overly dilute shareholders by providing participants with excessive awards and lack problematic features.

Factors that may result in a vote against Equity Compensation Plans:

- Plan's total potential dilution appears excessive
- Plan's burn rate appears excessive compared to industry peers
- Plan allows for the re-pricing of options without shareholder approval
- Plan has an evergreen feature

iii. Employee Stock Purchase Plans

CSIM supports the concept of broad employee participation in a company's equity. Therefore, CSIM typically supports employee stock purchase plans when the shares can be purchased at 85% or more of the shares' market value.

iv. Re-price/Exchange Option Plans

CSIM generally only supports management's proposals to re-price options when the plan excludes senior management and directors, does not excessively dilute shareholders, and the company has not significantly underperformed its industry peers over time.

D. ANTI-TAKEOVER

i. Shareholder Rights Plans ("Poison Pills")

Poison Pills constrain a potential acquirer's ability to buy shares in a company above a certain threshold without the approval of the company's board of directors. While a Poison Pill may help a company in achieving a higher bid, it may also entrench the incumbent management and board. CSIM believes that shareholders should have the right to approve a Poison Pill within a year of its adoption. CSIM generally votes against Poison Pills that do not have safeguards to protect shareholder interests.

Factors that may result in a vote against Poison Pills:

- Plan does not expire in a relatively short time horizon
- Plan does not have a well-crafted permitted bid or qualified offer feature that mandates shareholder votes in certain situations
- Plan automatically renews without shareholder approval
- Company's corporate governance profile

ii. Right to Call Special Meeting

CSIM generally votes against the right of shareholders to call a special meeting unless the threshold to call a special meeting is 25% or more of shares outstanding to avoid wasting corporate resources.

iii. Right to Act by Written Consent

CSIM generally votes against the right of shareholders to act by written consent if the company already offers shareholders the right to call special meetings. CSIM expects appropriate mechanisms for implementation, including that the threshold to call a special meeting is 25% or more of shares outstanding.

iv. Supermajority Voting

CSIM generally supports the concept of simple majority standards to pass proposals.

E. CAPITAL STRUCTURE, MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

i. Increase in Authorized Common Shares

CSIM typically supports proposals to increase the authorized shares unless the company does not sufficiently justify the need for the use of the proposed shares.

ii. Preferred Shares

CSIM generally supports proposals to create a class of preferred shares with specific voting, dividend, conversion and other rights.

iii. Mergers and Acquisitions

CSIM generally supports transactions that appear to maximize shareholder value. In assessing the proposals, CSIM considers the proposed transaction's strategic rationale, the offer premium, the board's oversight of the sales process, and other pertinent factors.

F. ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL PROPOSALS

Environmental and Social shareholder proposals typically request companies to change their business practices or to enhance their disclosures. CSIM believes that in most instances, the board is best positioned to evaluate the impact of these proposals on the company's business. Therefore, CSIM generally defers to the board's recommendation unless the proposal has successfully articulated a demonstrable tangible economic impact on shareholder value.

i. Political Contribution Proposals

CSIM expects the board of directors to have an oversight process for political contributions and lobbying proposals. CSIM generally votes against political contribution shareholder proposals unless there is no evidence of board oversight.

IV. ADMINISTRATION

A. CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

With respect to proxies of an underlying affiliated Fund, the Proxy Committee will vote such proxies in the same proportion as the vote of all other shareholders of such Fund (i.e., "echo vote"), unless otherwise required by law. When required by law or applicable exemptive order, the Proxy Committee will also "echo vote" proxies of an unaffiliated mutual fund or exchange traded fund ("ETF"). For example, certain exemptive orders issued to the Funds by the Securities and Exchange Commission and Section 12(d)(1)(F) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, require the Funds, under certain circumstances, to "echo vote" proxies of registered investment companies that serve as underlying investments of the Funds.

In addition, with respect to holdings of The Charles Schwab Corporation ("CSC") (ticker symbol: SCHW), the Proxy Committee will vote such proxies in the same proportion as the vote of all other shareholders of CSC (i.e., "echo vote"), unless otherwise required by law.

Other than proxies that will be "echo voted", proxy issues that present material conflicts of interest between CSIM, and/or any of its affiliates, and CSIM's clients will be delegated to Glass Lewis to be voted in accordance with CSIM's Proxy Voting Guidelines.

B. FOREIGN SECURITIES/SHAREBLOCKING

CSIM has arrangements with Glass Lewis for the execution of proxy votes. However, voting proxies with respect to shares of foreign securities may involve significantly greater effort and corresponding cost than voting proxies with respect to domestic securities, due to the variety of regulatory schemes and corporate practices in foreign countries with respect to proxy voting. Problems voting foreign proxies may include the following:

proxy statements and ballots written in a foreign language;

- untimely and/or inadequate notice of shareholder meetings;
- restrictions of foreigner's ability to exercise votes;
- requirements to vote proxies in person;
- requirements to provide local agents with power of attorney to facilitate CSIM's voting instructions.

In consideration of the foregoing issues, Glass Lewis uses its best efforts to vote foreign proxies. As part of its ongoing oversight, the Proxy Committee will monitor the voting of foreign proxies to determine whether all reasonable steps are taken to vote foreign proxies. If the Proxy Committee determines that the cost associated with the attempt to vote outweighs the potential benefits clients may derive from voting, the Proxy Committee may decide not to attempt to vote. In addition, certain foreign countries impose restrictions on the sale of securities for a period of time before and/or after the shareholder meeting. To avoid these trading restrictions, the Proxy Committee instructs Glass Lewis not to vote such foreign proxies.

C. SECURITIES LENDING

Certain of the Funds enter into securities lending arrangements with lending agents to generate additional revenue for their portfolios. In securities lending arrangements, any voting rights that accompany the loaned securities generally pass to the borrower of the securities, but the lender retains the right to recall a security and may then exercise the security's voting rights. In order to vote the proxies of securities out on loan, the securities must be recalled prior to the established record date. CSIM will use its best efforts to recall a Fund's securities on loan and vote such securities' proxies if (a) the proxy relates to a special meeting of shareholders of the issuer (as opposed to the issuer's annual meeting of shareholders), or (b) the Fund owns more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the issuer. Further, it is CSIM's policy to use its best efforts to recall securities on loan and vote such securities' proxies if CSIM determines that the proxies involve a material event affecting the loaned securities. CSIM may utilize third-party service providers to assist it in identifying and evaluating whether an event is material. CSIM may also recall securities on loan and vote such securities' proxies in its discretion.

D. SUB-ADVISORY RELATIONSHIPS

Where CSIM has delegated day-to-day investment management responsibilities to an investment sub-adviser, CSIM may (but generally does not) delegate proxy voting responsibility to such investment sub-adviser. Each sub-adviser to whom proxy voting responsibility has been delegated will be required to review all proxy solicitation material and to exercise the voting rights associated with the securities it has been allocated in the best interest of each investment company and its shareholders, or other client. Prior to delegating the proxy voting responsibility, CSIM will review each sub-adviser's proxy voting policy to determine whether it believes that each sub-adviser's proxy voting policy is generally consistent with the maximization of the value of CSIM's clients' investments by protecting the long-term best interest of shareholders.

E. REPORTING AND RECORD RETENTION

CSIM will maintain, or cause Glass Lewis to maintain, records that identify the manner in which proxies have been voted (or not voted) on behalf of CSIM clients. CSIM will comply with all applicable rules and regulations regarding disclosure of its or its clients' proxy voting records and procedures.

CSIM will retain all proxy voting materials and supporting documentation as required under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and the rules and regulations thereunder.